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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, late on Friday there were

         2       tendered and marked as confidential exhibits a number of

         3       additional statements from past or present officers or

         4       employees of the Commonwealth.  I wonder if we might have

         5       any indication as to whether any of those persons are

         6       required for examination.

         7

         8       MR LACAVA:   We don't require any of those for examination,

         9       sir.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        12

        13       MR FORREST:   Could I say, sir, that it is likely, from our

        14       perspective, that several of them will be needed, but until

        15       such time as we get the cables that are referred to and I

        16       think not yet supplied, it's hard to make a final decision.

        17       There were a number of cables referred to in those

        18       statements that haven't yet been supplied to us and which

        19       excite our curiosity.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   I will attend to that in the course of the

        22       morning.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   While my friend pauses, can I just confirm that

        25       we delivered a submission to the Commission this morning in

        26       relation to the secret documents matter.  For our part, we

        27       would wish to have some mechanism whereby the submissions

        28       that are delivered are in some way recorded by the

        29       Commission as having been delivered.  We're not seeking to

        30       have them published or exhibited, or anything of that sort,

        31       just so that, if the need arises in the future, there's no

        32       ambiguity about what came to the Commission and what

        33       didn't.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   In my reasons I will obviously address

        36       that.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   It may be, sir, that - perhaps I could leave it

        39       at that for the time being.  I assumed that you would

        40       eventually, but we'll wait and see if that's a sufficient

        41       description.  Thank you, sir.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is it convenient to deal with the

        44       remaining evidence from Ms Drake-Brockman before we deal

        45       with these submissions?  We might do that, I think,

        46       Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       <JANE ELIZABETH DRAKE-BROCKMAN, on former oath:  [10.05am]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   On Friday last, Ms Drake-Brockman, you

         6       referred to your diaries, and they've been provided to the

         7       inquiry this morning.  I haven't had an opportunity to have

         8       them copied, but can I pass them to you.  I wonder if, by

         9       reference to your diary, then, you can assist us as to

        10       whether you were on duty on 13 January 2001.

        11       A.   I believe that on 13 January 2000 --

        12

        13       Q.   I'm sorry, yes, 13 January 2000?

        14       A.   I believe I was on leave.  My diary suggests that I

        15       was on leave that day and returned to the office on the

        16       17th.  It's not crystal clear, the notation, but that's

        17       what it suggests to me, and it's consistent with the 1999

        18       version of the leave I was taking over Christmas, so I've

        19       presented both diaries.

        20

        21       Q.   I wonder if you could speak into the microphone.  I'm

        22       having trouble hearing you, and if I can't hear you, people

        23       at the back certainly won't be able to.  What does your

        24       1999 diary indicate in terms of your leave in December and

        25       January?

        26       A.   It indicates that I would not be back - it indicates

        27       to me that I would not be back in the office until that

        28       week starting the 17th.

        29

        30       Q.   What does your 2000 diary indicate?

        31       A.   It has nothing in it at all until the 17th.

        32

        33       Q.   So it's consistent, then, with your 1999 diary, the

        34       most likely inference being that you were on leave until at

        35       least 17 January?

        36       A.   That's correct.  The first notation appears on Monday,

        37       17 January.

        38

        39       Q.   Mr Haydon's annexure D, cables access log, indicates

        40       that the 13 January 2000 cable was opened at a terminal

        41       named to you on 17 January, at 8.17am, and again on

        42       18 January at 1.38pm, and again on 1 February at 8.20am.

        43       Is it likely, then, that that cable was opened on your

        44       instruction or for your information?

        45       A.  I don't know - I don't know, Mr Agius.

        46

        47       Q.   The next date is 18 January.  You were back and on
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         1       duty at that time?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Were you in the Canberra office on that day?  Are you

         5       able to tell from your diary?

         6       A.   Yes.  Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   You were?

         9       A.   Yes, I was.

        10

        11       Q.   The next is 10 March.  Does your diary indicate where

        12       you were on that day?

        13       A.   It suggests to me that I was in the office in Canberra

        14       on 10 March.  There is one notation which suggests to me I

        15       was possibly acting first assistant secretary that day.  I

        16       can't be sure.  I certainly was the previous day, the

        17       Thursday, the 9th, and it would not be normal to act for

        18       one day.

        19

        20       Q.   And 11 March?

        21       A.   I would have been in the - that's a Saturday.

        22

        23       Q.   So you would not have been in the office on the 11th?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   17 March?

        27       A.   On 17 March I was out of the office all day.

        28

        29       Q.   And 22 March?

        30       A.   On 22 March I was out of the office all day.

        31

        32       Q.   Were you in the office on 23 March?

        33       A.   My diary suggests I was out of the office all day on

        34       Thursday, 23 March.

        35

        36       Q.   So on both 22 and 23 March you were out of the office?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   When did you return to the office?

        40       A.   I believe I returned to the office on Wednesday, the

        41       29th.  It may not have been until the afternoon of

        42       Wednesday, the 29th - even late afternoon - but I've made a

        43       dinner notation for Wednesday, the 29th.

        44

        45       Q.   Would you just check the pages for 13 and

        46       18 January --

        47       A.   Of the year 2000?
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         1

         2       Q.   Yes - 10 March, 17 and 22 March.  Is there anything on

         3       any of those pages - I suppose it's unlikely - which is

         4       commercially sensitive or ought otherwise attract the

         5       attention of those concerned with public interest immunity?

         6       I propose otherwise to have copies made of those pages and

         7       to have them marked as public exhibits.

         8       A.   No, there's nothing I consider would fit into that

         9       category.  The planner - the year as a whole planners at

        10       the beginning and end of the diary, I might elaborate, also

        11       there's nothing sensitive there that need not be

        12       photocopied.

        13

        14       Q.   Thank you.  If those diaries could be returned, we'll

        15       have copies made of the flagged pages and I will, in the

        16       course of the morning, as soon as they're available, tender

        17       them, Mr Commissioner.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        20

        21       MR ORR:   Could I seek leave on behalf of the Commonwealth

        22       to appear before the Commission in relation to the national

        23       security issues that have been ventilated here?

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll grant you leave on the usual

        26       terms.

        27

        28       MR ORR:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.  Perhaps we might see

        29       the diary entries which Mr Agius was referring to just then

        30       and asked several questions about before they're proceeded

        31       to be published in any way, just so that we can check

        32       whether any issue is raised from our point of view in

        33       relation to national security.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   We've been provided with a further statutory

        38       declaration from Ms Drake-Brockman this morning.  I have

        39       the original in my hand, dated 17 March 2006.  I'm yet to

        40       have an opportunity to read it.  I wonder if I could have

        41       just a moment with it, Mr Commissioner.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will have some copies made

        46       of the statutory declaration.  It's as yet unbarcoded, but

        47       I tender it together with the annexures.  It confirms
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         1       evidence earlier given by this witness as to what she's had

         2       to say about which cables she has seen and in relation to a

         3       number of cables it indicates that the witness does not

         4       have any recollection of having received or having read the

         5       cable.  Many of the cables are not strictly relevant, but

         6       since the material has been provided in this form, I will

         7       tender it, just to make the record complete.  We'll have

         8       copies made and I'll distribute it in the course of the

         9       morning.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #594 STATUTORY DECLARATION OF MS DRAKE-BROCKMAN,

        12       DATED 17/3/2006, TOGETHER WITH ANNEXURES

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   That completes the examination of this witness.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   How long will it take to have copies

        17       made?

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Someone is on their way to collect it.  It

        20       might take 10 or 15 minutes to have sufficient number of

        21       copies made.

        22

        23       THE WITNESS:   May I just make a comment, that the

        24       confidentiality of some of the annexures be checked before

        25       photocopying?

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   In that case, Mr Commissioner, I wonder if I

        28       could pass it to my learned friend Mr Orr so that he can

        29       obtain instructions as to whether confidentiality ought to

        30       attach to any of the cables.  It's just not possible to say

        31       from the face of the documents whether that's the case.

        32       Once that check has been done, if there is no submission to

        33       be made in relation to it, it should take only 10 or

        34       15 minutes to have copies made.  As I say, the statutory

        35       declaration appears to confirm evidence that was given on

        36       Friday and is simply in that form, "I confirm what I've

        37       already said".  In respect of other cables, it simply

        38       records that the witness hasn't seen them.  So it doesn't

        39       on its face appear to be greatly material at this time.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody wish to cross-examine

        42       Ms Drake-Brockman?

        43

        44       MR LACAVA:   We do, sir.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   We would, but it may be very short and

        47       nonexistent if we can follow the procedure adopted.
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         1

         2       MR CARTER:   We do, but it would probably be very short, in

         3       light of the fact that we would go after Mr Lacava.  He

         4       clearly has the primary interest.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you in a position to proceed now,

         7       whilst that document is being addressed, Mr Lacava?

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   Yes, sir.

        10

        11       <EXAMINATION BY MR LACAVA:

        12

        13       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, I want to ask you some

        14       questions on behalf of Mr Charles Stott.  Do you still have

        15       your diaries there?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   Could the witness be handed, please, her diary for the

        19       year 2000?  Ms Drake-Brockman, you were offered a

        20       retirement package, were you not, on 17 November 2000?

        21       A.   That's correct.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you make a note of that in your diary?

        24       A.   No, I don't believe I did.  I can check if you like,

        25       but no.

        26

        27       Q.   Would you do that, please?

        28       A.   No, there's no mention.

        29

        30       Q.   In your statement you specifically refer to that date,

        31       don't you?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Is that because you recall the date?

        35       A.   Yes, I recall it quite specifically.

        36

        37       Q.   Having been made the offer of a retirement package,

        38       did you accept it on the 17th?

        39       A.   Yes, I did.

        40

        41       Q.   And did you immediately retire?

        42       A.   My final exit date from the department was 19 January

        43       of 2001.  I think my last functioning day in the Middle

        44       East and Africa branch would have been around 20 December,

        45       that week before Christmas.

        46

        47       Q.   So you continued to work in the office after the offer
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         1       was made and accepted until about 20 December, did you?

         2       A.   That's correct.  When I say "accepted", of course the

         3       paperwork for it wasn't there for me to actually sign it

         4       that day.

         5

         6       Q.   Yes, but you continued working?

         7       A.   Yes, that's correct.

         8

         9       Q.   Right up until 20 December?

        10       A.   More or less, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Performing your normal task?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Then you took leave?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   When the leave expired, you left the department, did

        19       you --

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   -- on about 19 January 2001?

        23       A.   My formal exit date would have been 19 January 2001,

        24       yes.

        25

        26       Q.   What was the last official thing you did on

        27       20 December 2000?

        28       A.   My diary tells me that I had an appointment at

        29       4 o'clock with John Hinds, who was our then ambassador in

        30       Abu Dabi.  The - that's the answer to the question.

        31

        32       Q.   And you had to refer to your diary to answer that

        33       question, did you?

        34       A.   Yes, to tell you what my last appointment was, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Because you didn't have any recollection of it?

        37       A.   I recollect the two days after that more clearly,

        38       without reference to my diary.

        39

        40       Q.   I'm not asking you about the two days after it --

        41       A.   I would need to look at my diary to see what my last

        42       formal appointment was on 20 December, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   That's because you have no independent recollection of

        45       it, isn't it?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   When you left the department on 19 January 2001, did

         2       you go into other employment?

         3       A.   No.  I established my consultancy company.

         4

         5       Q.   You describe yourself in each of your statutory

         6       declarations - exhibits 578 and 579 - as a managing

         7       director; is that right?

         8       A.   That's what the stat decs say, yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Well, they're your stat decs, aren't they?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   That's how you describe yourself, don't you?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Are you the managing director of a business called

        17       Trade and Environment Solutions?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   When was it established?

        21       A.   The formal date with ASIC of incorporation I would

        22       have to take a few moments to reflect on.

        23

        24       Q.   You have no independent recollection of when you

        25       established your new business?

        26       A.   I haven't said that.  I said I'd need a few moments to

        27       reflect.

        28

        29       Q.   How long?

        30       A.   I recall finalising the name of the company on one of

        31       those days in the week before Christmas of December.  Once

        32       the name was established and the accountant had a firm

        33       name, I think the shelf company process was ready to go.  I

        34       think it would have been completed before the end of the

        35       year 2000.

        36

        37       Q.   So you established your new business, Trade and

        38       Environment Solutions, before you left DFAT; is that right?

        39       A.   I set in train all the process to do so, yes, and, as

        40       I understand it, yes, the company was - physically existed,

        41       certainly before my exit date of 19 January the following

        42       year, certainly, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   What does Trade and Environment Solutions do?  What is

        45       its business?

        46       A.   It's an economic consultancy business.

        47
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         1       Q.   To whom does it consult?

         2       A.   I'm not sure what you're asking me.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, it's a consultancy business?

         5       A.   Mmm.

         6

         7       Q.   Who does it consult with?

         8       A.   My clients include, in effect, aid programs.  I've

         9       done some work through a number of aid programs.  I have --

        10

        11       Q.   Yes, which aid programs?

        12       A.   I have done some work with companies that have

        13       contracts under the AusAID program, for example, with UNDP.

        14       I have done some work for the Commonwealth secretariat

        15       during this period.  I have done some work with a

        16       British-based consultancy firm.  I have done some work for

        17       a couple of Australian companies, and I have a contract -

        18       Trade and Environment Solutions has a contract with the

        19       Australian Services Round Table.  There are others, of

        20       course.

        21

        22       Q.   For the clients of Trade and Environment Solutions do

        23       you consult with the government, the Australian government,

        24       or any of its agencies?

        25       A.   Do you mean are they a client ever?

        26

        27       Q.   No.

        28       A.   Sorry.

        29

        30       Q.   On behalf of the clients of Trade and Environment

        31       Solutions do you consult with the Australian government or

        32       any of its agencies?

        33       A.   Yes.  "Consult" is an odd word to use there, but yes.

        34

        35       Q.   I'm using your word.

        36

        37       MR ROBERTSON:   I object to that, Mr Commissioner.  It's

        38       been entirely unclear in the question so far what it is

        39       Mr Lacava has in mind by the word "consult", whether it's

        40       the clients or the people who Ms Drake-Brockman speaks

        41       with.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, when I asked this witness what

        46       Trade and Environment Solutions did, I think she told me it

        47       was a consultancy on trade.  I think I've asked her whether
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         1       she consults on behalf of clients with the government.

         2       She's agreed with that.  The question that was objected

         3       to --

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can we move on?  I'm not quite sure

         6       where this is all going.

         7

         8       MR LACAVA:   It will become clear, sir.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I know she's done some work for Mr Rudd

        11       as well.

        12

        13       MR LACAVA:   Yes.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   I imagine she'll consult with anyone

        16       who will pay her fee, if they're reputable.

        17

        18       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, do you, on behalf of

        19       clients of TESOL, Trade and Environment Solutions,

        20       presently consult with the Australian government and its

        21       agencies?

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   You mean receive a retainer from them

        24       for doing work?

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Yes.

        27       A.   No, definitely not.

        28

        29       Q.   Not at the present time?

        30       A.   From the Australian government?

        31

        32       Q.   No.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that's the question you asked.

        35

        36       THE WITNESS:   That was the question I understood.

        37

        38       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Well, I'll repeat the question then.  Do

        39       you, on behalf of clients of TESOL, presently consult with

        40       the Australian government or any of its agencies?  TESOL is

        41       an acronym, is it not, Ms Drake Brockman, for Trade and

        42       Environment Solutions, your business?

        43       A.   Yes.  Mr Lacava, on behalf of clients of TESOL, I

        44       interact with a number of agencies of the Australian

        45       government and other governments, but the word "consult"

        46       with is peculiar language.  I wouldn't use that word.  I

        47       use the word "consult" to cover my relationship with my
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         1       clients.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, I only use the word "consult" because you said

         4       that your business was a consultancy,.  Would you prefer to

         5       use the word "interact".

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, I think we are playing with

         8       words.  Can we get on to the substance of all of this?

         9

        10       MR LACAVA:   I'm coming to it, Mr Commissioner.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS.   No, Mr Lacava, the service I provide my

        13       clients can be generally described under the heading

        14       "consultancy service".  The service I provide to my clients

        15       is a consultancy service.

        16

        17       MR LACAVA:   Q.   On behalf of your clients, you interact

        18       with the Australian government and its agencies, do you?

        19       A.   When necessary, yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Are you presently - that is, as at 20 March of 2006 -

        22       interacting on behalf of clients with the Australian

        23       government or any of its agencies?

        24       A.   Last week I was invited to attend a meeting on behalf

        25       of a client, which involved giving a speech at a meeting

        26       convened by the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade.  I

        27       couldn't attend it, of course.  That is a current activity.

        28       I didn't actually participate in it, but it's the only

        29       relevant answer I can give to your question.

        30

        31       Q.   Are you also the executive director of a group called

        32       the Australian Services Round Table?

        33       A.   Yes, that's correct.

        34

        35       Q.   For how long have you been the executive director of

        36       that organisation?

        37       A.   Since its second or third board meeting.  I was

        38       previously called the convener.

        39

        40       Q.   When was its second or third board meeting?

        41       A.   It was held in Sydney in the offices of Standards

        42       Australia.  That would have been the same day the Thai

        43       Deputy Prime Minister was due to be in Australia.  It would

        44       have been around April, I think, of 2004.

        45

        46       Q.   Around April of 2004?

        47       A.   I'm guessing, but --
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         1

         2       Q.   You're guessing?

         3       A.   I'm guessing, but I would - that's roughly what I can

         4       reconstruct, yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Are you guessing because you have no precise

         7       recollection as to when you became the executive director

         8       of the Australian Services Round Table?

         9       A.   I have a very precise recollection of the board

        10       meeting.  I have a very precise recollection of the dinner

        11       that evening, at which I announced it.  I have a very

        12       precise recollection of the occasion and the day.  The

        13       actual date I would have to confirm.  I think it was a

        14       Tuesday.

        15

        16       Q.   I now want to ask you about your interview with the

        17       IIC, Mr Volcker's committee.  Could the witness be handed,

        18       please, exhibit 590.  It's DFT.0001.0434.  Could we have it

        19       brought up on the screen, please?  Ms Drake-Brockman, after

        20       you left DFAT officially on 19 January 2001, did you have

        21       any further dealings with DFAT thereafter that involved

        22       work that you had performed whilst you were in charge of

        23       the Middle East and Africa branch?

        24       A.   No, not prior to being called to give evidence to the

        25       IIC, no, not that I can recollect.

        26

        27       Q.   Being called to give evidence to the IIC was the first

        28       occasion, was it, that you had to recall the unsigned

        29       letter of Mr Stott of 30 October and your signed letter in

        30       reply of 2 November of 2000; is that right?

        31       A.   Yes, that's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   The interview occurred over the phone, didn't it?

        34       A.   That's correct.

        35

        36       Q.   Who were you accompanied by?

        37       A.   There were two officers from DFAT present.

        38

        39       Q.   Who were they?

        40       A.   I'd met neither of them ever before.  One was from -

        41       they were both men.  One was from the legal branch and the

        42       other was, I think, from the Iraqi task force, and I don't

        43       recall the names of either.

        44

        45       Q.   You can't recall?

        46       A.   No.  I haven't seen either of them since.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you take the telephone call in Canberra?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you go to the offices of DFAT for the purposes of

         5       having the call?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Had you conferred with any officer from DFAT in the

         9       days or weeks leading up to the telephone call?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   So you were asked, were you, to attend at the offices

        13       at a certain time?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   You there met two gentlemen, did you?

        17       A.   Certainly one gentleman.  Maybe one of them was a

        18       woman.  I'm not sure.  I didn't really notice the people I

        19       was with, but there were two people.

        20

        21       Q.   Did they tell you what the interview would be about?

        22       A.   They showed me the - yes, yes, they did.

        23

        24       Q.   What did they say?

        25       A.   They said that the interview would be about a letter

        26       that I had signed to Mr Stott.

        27

        28       Q.   Yes.  And did they tell you that it would also be

        29       about an unsigned letter from Mr Stott?

        30       A.   I don't think they told me that.

        31

        32       Q.   Did they tell you anything?

        33       A.   No, they told me nothing, except that it would be

        34       about this letter that I had signed.  They gave me to read

        35       immediately prior to the phone call a copy of the letter I

        36       had signed.

        37

        38       Q.   You played no part in selecting any documents from

        39       DFAT files for the purposes of this interview, did you?

        40       A.   This interview with the IIC?

        41

        42       Q.   Yes.

        43       A.   No, absolutely none.

        44

        45       Q.   Was the interview conducted on a speaker phone?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Do you know the name of the person from the IIC that

         2       was conducting the interview?

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you do, you can't tell us.

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   I didn't ask that, sir; I asked does the

         7       witness --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm just warning the witness that she

        10       cannot tell us the name if she does.

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        13

        14       Q.   Do you?

        15       A.   There were two men.  I recall the Christian name of

        16       one.

        17

        18       Q.   Nevertheless, you were told their names?

        19       A.   They introduced themselves once at the beginning of

        20       the phone conversation.

        21

        22       Q.   In the summary that was prepared by the IIC of your

        23       interview you say in paragraph 3 that the AWB interacted

        24       fairly regularly with the Middle East and Africa branch; do

        25       you see that in about the middle of paragraph 3?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Then, in paragraph 4, you use the word "interacted",

        29       or the word is used, I should say, "interacted", and

        30       "interact" is used twice; do you see that in paragraph 4?

        31       A.   I see it once in para 4 - twice in para 4, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   What did you mean by "interact" in that context?

        34       A.   I mean exactly what I mean in any context.  I mean

        35       have conversations with, talk to.

        36

        37       Q.   The exchange of information - would that be included

        38       in "interact"?

        39       A.   Have a conversation.  A conversation can - an exchange

        40       of information can take place in a conversation, yes.

        41

        42       Q.   In paragraph 6, the last paragraph on the page, if

        43       that could be brought up, please, by the monitor, you

        44       refer, do you not, in the second-last sentence to the Legal

        45       Division:

        46

        47            Ms Drake-Brockman's section was not
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         1            involved in contact with the UN in New York

         2            as this was handled by the Legal Division.

         3            Therefore, she was not able to provide any

         4            further details.

         5

         6       Then you go on over the page, if we could have that brought

         7       up:

         8

         9            Ms Drake-Brockman stated that her section

        10            may have had contact on this issue with the

        11            UN Section of DFAT and/or the International

        12            Law Section.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   There have been corrections made to

        15       that paragraph in exhibit 593, and also to the previous

        16       one.

        17

        18       MR LACAVA:   I beg your pardon, sir?  Are you speaking of

        19       593 addressing the second page or the first page, I'm

        20       sorry?

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   The fourth amendment for paragraph 6 -

        23       that relates, I thought, to page 1.  I may be wrong.  The

        24       word "section" does appear in the sixth paragraph on

        25       page 1.

        26

        27       MR LACAVA:   I see, yes.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   I then took it that the paragraph 1

        30       after paragraph 6 relates to the second page.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Yes, thank you, sir.

        33

        34       Q.   On the second page, in the top paragraph,

        35       Ms Drake-Brockman, the Commissioner correctly points out

        36       that you asked, did you not, for the word "section", where

        37       it appears in the first line, to be replaced with the word

        38       "branch"; is that right?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   In your first statutory declaration - do you have that

        42       there, exhibit 578?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   You refer, do you not, to Mr Cuddihy in paragraph 15?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   You say that Mr Cuddihy said words to the effect that

         2       according to ILD it wasn't necessary because the legal

         3       Branch was able to give this advice; do you see that?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   When you were interviewed by the IIC in April of 2005,

         7       did you tell them that, what Mr Cuddihy said to you?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   Why not?

        11       A.   Because at the time I was asked - I wasn't asked

        12       questions that prompted that recollection, and I've

        13       explained this also in para 17 of my first stat dec -

        14       para 18.

        15

        16       Q.   Don't worry about paragraph 18 for a moment.  Did you

        17       tell them what Mr Cuddihy had said to you?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you tell the IIC that you had signed the letter,

        21       your letter of 2 November, because it had been approved,

        22       its form had been approved, by the international legal

        23       division of DFAT?

        24       A.   I believe I said words to that effect.  I don't know

        25       whether I was asked precisely that question.

        26

        27       Q.   So you said words to that effect but it doesn't appear

        28       in the summary; is that the situation?

        29       A.   I was asked by the IIC about the relationship between

        30       my branch and the two branches in ILD, because the letter

        31       that we were looking at referred to ILD.

        32

        33       Q.   In paragraph 15 of your first statutory declaration

        34       you say:

        35

        36            I recall stating that such a decision on

        37            the part of the Legal Branch would have to

        38            be at Assistant Secretary level and my

        39            staff confirming that this was the case.

        40

        41       Did you tell the IIC that?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   Why not?

        45       A.   I was not asked a question which prompted that

        46       recollection.

        47
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         1       Q.   Well, you were asked about the legal division,

         2       clearly, weren't you?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   And you told the IIC that any contact with New York

         6       would have been by the legal division?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Now, I accept what you say, that you've stated that

        10       you were wrong in that regard.  Nevertheless, the issue of

        11       the international law division was clearly raised, wasn't

        12       it, by the IIC?  Do you agree with that?

        13       A.   The issue of ILD that was raised was a structural

        14       relationship issue between my branch and the various

        15       sections and branches within ILD.

        16

        17       Q.   All right.  In each of your statutory declarations you

        18       have said that you did not speak with Mr Stott in November

        19       of 2000, and I think you make the point that you've never

        20       spoken to him before ever; is that right?

        21       A.   That's my recollection.

        22

        23       Q.   So you've never met him?

        24       A.   Not to the best of my recollection.

        25

        26       Q.   You told the IIC, didn't you, that Mr Stott and others

        27       were frequent visitors to DFAT and there were regular

        28       meetings?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you say that?

        32       A.   May I have a look at - something like that.  I said

        33       that the - I said that my branch and the AWB offices

        34       interacted regularly.

        35

        36       Q.   Can't you remember what's in the summary?

        37

        38       MR ROBERTSON:   I object to this line of questioning.  If

        39       it's important, Ms Drake-Brockman has made an amendment to

        40       the paragraph of the summary that I think my learned friend

        41       is asking her about.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Q.   You can see, can't you,

        46       Ms Drake-Brockman, the second page of the summary on the

        47       screen?
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         1       A.   Now I have the second page, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   You asked, didn't you, for the first sentence of

         4       paragraph 3 to be amended to read:

         5

         6            Ms Drake-Brockman had no recollection of

         7            any correspondence sent by AWB concerning

         8            use of Jordanian trucking companies to

         9            discharge wheat at Umm Qasr before this

        10            October letter?

        11

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   You made no amendment to the next sentence, did you,

        15       save for you wanted "visitors to" to be replaced with

        16       "interlocutors with"; is that right?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   So that we should read it as follows:

        20

        21            She stated that Charles Stott and others

        22            from the AWB were frequent interlocutors

        23            with DFAT and there were regular meetings.

        24

        25       Is that right?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Are you happy with that amendment?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   What was your basis for that statement to the IIC?

        32       A.   I was aware that my staff were fairly regularly on the

        33       telephone to officers of the AWB in Melbourne.  I was aware

        34       that during my time in the branch at least two of my staff

        35       had visited the AWB offices in Melbourne.  I was aware that

        36       an AWB - at least one AWB officer may have visited

        37       Canberra, visited DFAT in Canberra, during that time.

        38

        39       Q.   What was the basis of your statement that Charles

        40       Stott was a frequent interlocutor with DFAT and there were

        41       regular meetings.

        42       A.   If the words "and others" were deleted from that

        43       sentence, Mr Lacava, it would no longer be correct.  It's

        44       the plural, "Charles Stott and others" were frequent

        45       visitors.

        46

        47       Q.   Let me ask you the converse.  What was your basis for
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         1       including Mr Stott in that sentence?

         2       A.   I believe I was asked by the inquiry.

         3

         4       Q.   What, you were asked by the inquiry, were you, "Were

         5       Mr Charles Stott and others from the AWB frequent

         6       interlocutors with DFAT?"

         7       A.   Not that precise question, no.

         8

         9       Q.   Well, what were you asked?

        10       A.   I was asked whether I - I was asked to the effect that

        11       I had frequent interaction with officers of AWB.  I don't

        12       recall whether Mr - whether the IIC investigators

        13       specifically referred to him.

        14

        15       Q.   So you volunteered it, did you?

        16       A.   This transcript is a summary, not a full transcript --

        17

        18       Q.   Yes, we appreciate that, Ms Drake-Brockman?

        19       A.   -- prepared by DFAT, which I considered acceptable,

        20       subject to the changes I made to it.

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.  Well, you found it acceptable to leave Mr Stott

        23       in there, didn't you?

        24       A.   Yes, I did.

        25

        26       Q.   What I'm asking you about is the basis of your

        27       acceptance.

        28       A.   I was aware of the name Charles Stott as being an

        29       individual with whom members of DFAT had some contact.

        30

        31       Q.   Mmm.  So that's the only basis, is it?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Could that be taken down, please.  Sorry, could we

        35       just leave it up, please, monitor.  In the second-last

        36       paragraph on that page the summary says - I don't think

        37       this is a paragraph that's been amended:

        38

        39            The AWB letter of 30 October 2000 was sent

        40            to Jill Courtney, DFAT officer who reported

        41            indirectly to Ms Drake-Brockman.

        42            Ms Courtney's core responsibilities did not

        43            include liaison with AWB and she probably

        44            received the letter because she was

        45            standing in for someone else at the time.

        46            Ms Drake-Brockman could provide no other

        47            details of the circumstances that led to
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         1            this letter being sent by the AWB.

         2

         3       Do you see that?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Was that your best recollection at the time of the

         7       interview?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   When you came to swear your statutory declarations,

        11       had your memory improved?

        12       A.   With respect to this paragraph?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Not at all?

        18       A.   The last sentence, my memory remained identical.  The

        19       first sentence, my memory remained identical.  The second

        20       sentence remained identical.

        21

        22       Q.   Could we go, please, to your second statutory

        23       declaration, exhibit 579 - DFT.0013.0176.  At the bottom of

        24       the first page, paragraph 8 - I want to take you to that,

        25       please, Ms Drake-Brockman, if that could be raised up a

        26       little - you see that you say:

        27

        28            Paragraph 13 of my January declaration

        29            deals with the 30 October fax.  My

        30            recollection is that I first saw the

        31            30 October fax in my "urgent" in-tray.

        32

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Are you telling the Commission in the statutory

        36       declaration that you have a specific and clear recollection

        37       of seeing the unsigned fax from Mr Stott in your in tray?

        38       A.   Yes.  This is not on that page.  It must be later in

        39       this stat dec.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's on the next page.

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Is it not at the bottom of page 1,

        44       paragraph 8:

        45

        46            My recollection is that I first saw the

        47            30 October fax in my "urgent" in-tray.
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         1

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   But you asked about the unsigned

         5       document, which is on the next page.

         6

         7       MR LACAVA:   That's precisely what I'm asking about,

         8       Commissioner, the unsigned --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite, and the witness said that it's

        11       not there, it must be somewhere else.  And I said, "Yes,

        12       it's on the next page", as it is.  Paragraph 8 on the first

        13       page which you've shown her does not refer to "unsigned".

        14

        15       MR LACAVA:   I beg your pardon.

        16

        17       Q.   Let me go back a step.  Could we have paragraph 8 on

        18       the first page brought up, please.  In your second

        19       statutory declaration you say, do you not, "My recollection

        20       is that I first saw the 30 October fax in my 'urgent'

        21       in-tray"?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   What did you mean by "the 30 October fax"?

        25       A.   In that sentence I didn't mean anything, except the

        26       30 October fax.

        27

        28       Q.   Was this the same unsigned fax that you referred to

        29       over the page?

        30       A.   I'm sorry, Mr Lacava, but I --

        31

        32       Q.   Sorry, I think I've managed to confuse even myself,

        33       Ms Drake-Brockman.  We'll start again.  When you use the

        34       word "unsigned" in paragraph 8, you're referring to the

        35       draft of your letter which you ultimately signed, aren't

        36       you?

        37       A.   That's correct.  That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   It's your clear recollection, is it, that you have

        40       held in your memory for the best part of five and a half

        41       years that Mr Stott's unsigned fax was first in your

        42       in tray when you first saw it?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   And it's your recollection, is it, and something that

        46       has stayed in your mind for five and a half years, that

        47       when you saw it it was folded so that the second page was
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         1       on top?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Is that right?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Are you seriously telling the Commissioner that you

         8       have had that recollection in your mind clearly and

         9       specifically for about five and a half years?

        10       A.   I most certainly am telling the Commission that that

        11       is my recollection.  I haven't held it in my mind every

        12       single day for five and a half years, but that is my

        13       recollection of what happened five and a half years ago.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, have you had it in your mind for the last five

        16       and a half years that when you first saw it you remembered

        17       that it had the commencing words "as you are aware"?

        18       A.   Yes, quite distinct memory.

        19

        20       Q.   That's clearly logged into your mind, is it?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   And your recollection?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   You'll never forget it?

        27       A.   No-one's memory is perfect.  I'm not promising

        28       anything.

        29

        30       Q.   Was there anything else in the urgent tray that day?

        31       A.   Not in the urgent tray that - not that needed my

        32       attention that day.

        33

        34       Q.   What about in the other trays --

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   -- the non-urgent trays?

        38       A.   Yes, there was stuff in the other tray.

        39

        40       Q.   What were the commencing words of those documents?

        41       A.   I didn't read them.  I only read what was on top there

        42       in my urgent in tray because it was drawn to my attention

        43       as needing my urgent attention now.

        44

        45       Q.   Let's just explore this for a moment.  Did you have

        46       matters in your urgent tray the day after, on 3 November?

        47       A.   I think the next day I went interstate, I travelled
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         1       interstate.

         2

         3       Q.   For how long were you interstate?

         4       A.   Oh, overnight and the following day, I think.

         5

         6       Q.   When you came back, was there an accumulation of

         7       things in the in tray, documents in the in tray for you to

         8       attend to?

         9       A.   I would have come back on the Monday.  One or two only

        10       in the urgent tray.  If I was in the office, I would deal

        11       with them, I would have my attention drawn to something if

        12       I was passing through the office.

        13

        14       Q.   But there were documents there?

        15       A.   There were - there were documents there.

        16

        17       Q.   What were the commencing words of the top one?

        18       A.   On the following day - I don't know, because I didn't

        19       look at them.

        20

        21       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, what we read in paragraph 8 of your

        22       second statutory declaration is false, isn't it?

        23       A.   There's nothing in my statutory declaration that's

        24       false, Mr Lacava.  Which sentence are you referring to,

        25       please?

        26

        27       Q.   The second sentence:

        28

        29            My recollection is that I first saw the

        30            30 October fax in my "urgent" in-tray.

        31

        32       That's false, isn't it?

        33       A.   No, it's correct.

        34

        35       Q.   The second sentence:

        36

        37            A draft of a reply dated 2 November and

        38            unsigned was attached to it for my

        39            signature.

        40

        41       That's false, isn't it?

        42       A.   That's correct.

        43

        44       Q.   That's correct?

        45

        46            I do not recall whether the copy of the

        47            30 October fax that I saw was signed.
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         1

         2       That's false, isn't it?

         3       A.   No, that's correct.

         4

         5       Q.   So you have no recollection of the 30 October fax

         6       being signed or unsigned?

         7       A.   That's correct.

         8

         9       Q.   Yet you have a clear and distinct recollection that

        10       the second page of the fax began with the words "As you are

        11       aware"?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   In paragraph 9 - would you look at that, please?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   You say that you recall that before you signed the

        18       letter of 2 November you inquired as to who in the branch

        19       was the action officer; do you recall that?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   And Ms Courtney presented herself to you; is that

        23       right?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   And thereafter you discussed the letter, the

        27       30 October fax and the 2 November letter, with both

        28       Ms Courtney and Mr Cuddihy; is that right?  Is that your

        29       clear recollection?

        30       A.   Yes, and as also set out in my first stat dec, because

        31       of course this doesn't overtake my first stat dec, and with

        32       other officers in the branch.

        33

        34       Q.   Who were the other officers that you discussed it

        35       with?

        36       A.   I have a distinct recollection of Ms Deborah Watson

        37       being present.  I have struggled to recall who else was

        38       there, but I have used the words "my staff and other

        39       officers" at least twice in my first stat dec to cover the

        40       presence of another officer I can't recall.

        41

        42       Q.   An officer, what, you can't recall the name of the

        43       person?

        44       A.   That's right.

        45

        46       Q.   Someone that worked in your branch?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Your letter that you signed on 2 November 2000 - could

         3       we have that brought up, please?  It's WST.0004.0004.  It's

         4       part of exhibit 77.  Do you see that it has the words at

         5       the top in bold and underlined "Commercial in Confidence"?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Why did you put that in the letter?

         9       A.   I didn't draft this letter, Mr Lacava.  I didn't write

        10       this --

        11

        12       Q.   You signed this, didn't you?

        13       A.   Yes, I signed the letter.

        14

        15       Q.   Why did you sign it with those words on it?

        16       A.   It would be normal in correspondence with a company to

        17       be overly cautious and to use the words "Commercial in

        18       Confidence".

        19

        20       Q.   But you wouldn't put it on the letter, would you,

        21       unless the person or the party that you were dealing with

        22       requested the matter be commercial in confidence; is that

        23       right?

        24       A.   No.  We would make our own decision about that.  My

        25       assumption was that international legal division had wanted

        26       that phraseology.

        27

        28       Q.   International legal division wanted that phraseology?

        29       A.   That would be my assumption at the time.

        30

        31       Q.   Could we have brought up, please, exhibit 297 -

        32       AWB.0173.0261.  This is the first page of the 30 October

        33       fax, Ms Drake-Brockman?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   You see that it has the word "Confidential" - do you

        37       see that?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Not "Commercially in Confidence", not "Commercial in

        41       Confidence"?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Now, could it be that when you signed the letter of 2

        45       November you had in mind that you had seen a letter from

        46       Mr Stott with the words "Commercial in Confidence" on it?

        47       A.   Certainly not.



            .20/3/06 (49)              4850     J E DRAKE-BROCKMAN (Mr Lacava)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   No, not even a possibility?

         3       A.   Certainly not.

         4

         5       Q.   You're absolutely certain of that?

         6       A.   I'm absolutely certain of that.

         7

         8       Q.   Could we have brought up, please, the other part of

         9       exhibit 77 - AWB.0106.0109.  This is the signed fax from

        10       Mr Stott of 30 October; do you see that?

        11       A.   Yes, I see that.

        12

        13       Q.   It has the words "Commercial in Confidence", doesn't

        14       it?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   What I'm suggesting to you, Ms Drake-Brockman, is that

        18       when you signed your letter of 2 November you knew that you

        19       were responding to this signed letter from Mr Stott, didn't

        20       you?

        21       A.   No, I did not, Mr Lacava, no.

        22

        23       Q.   Your letter of 2 November was in fact a response to

        24       this letter signed by Mr Stott, I suggest to you.

        25       A.   I didn't see any version other than the unsigned

        26       version.

        27

        28       Q.   I suggest to you that you did.  We know,

        29       Ms Drake-Brockman, that this exhibit was faxed to DFAT and

        30       hasn't been produced either to this inquiry or to the

        31       Volcker commission inquiry by DFAT.

        32

        33       MR ROBERTSON:   I object to that, Mr Commissioner.  Is it

        34       meant to be a question or an observation, or two questions?

        35

        36       MR LACAVA:   I'll break it up.

        37

        38       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, I suggest to you that you had this

        39       letter, exhibit 77, signed by Mr Stott in your urgent in

        40       tray when you signed the letter of 2 November.  That's the

        41       case, isn't it?

        42       A.   No, Mr Lacava, I do not recall seeing this letter.

        43

        44       Q.   I want to, Ms Drake-Brockman, ask you to look at two

        45       documents.  For this purpose, what I'm going to ask to have

        46       done, Commissioner - I asked the monitor how to do this

        47       before the hearings the other day - could we have brought
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         1       up on the witness's screen and on the Commissioner's

         2       screen, please, the signed letter from Mr Stott,

         3       exhibit 77, AWB.0106.0109, and the signed letter of the

         4       witness of 2 November, which is WST.0004.0004.  Could the

         5       witness please be handed a hard copy of exhibit 297, the

         6       unsigned fax.  Ms Drake-Brockman, if you would just open

         7       the document that you've been handed so that it appears in

         8       the same way that it was in your urgent in tray on

         9       2 November 2000?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Looking at the documents on your screen, which we have

        13       on the overhead projector --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- your signed letter and Mr Stott's signed letter are

        17       both endorsed "Commercial in Confidence", are they not?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Your signed letter, in the second paragraph, first

        21       sentence, refers to:

        22

        23            We understand that, on your recent visit to

        24            Baghdad...

        25

        26       Do you see that?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   You used the word "recent"?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   The signed letter from Mr Stott refers, does it not,

        33       to the words "recent mission" - in the second paragraph,

        34       second sentence?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You have with you the unsigned version of Mr Stott, do

        38       you not?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Can you look at it and tell the Commissioner whether

        42       or not it refers to "recent mission" or "recent visit"?

        43       A.   Mr Commissioner, it doesn't refer to those words.  It

        44       refers to "our delegation".

        45

        46       Q.   Yes.  There's no reference to "recent", is there?

        47       A.   No reference to "mission".  I haven't checked
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         1       "recent".  No, that's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   I suggest to you that the word "recent" where it's

         4       used in your letter, where it refers to "recent visit to

         5       Baghdad", was taken from Mr Stott's signed letter, wasn't

         6       it?

         7       A.   No, Mr Lacava.

         8

         9       Q.   Wrong?

        10       A.   Not to my - it's not taken to my knowledge from that

        11       letter.  I have no knowledge.  I don't know.

        12

        13       Q.   In your letter, in your signed letter, you refer to

        14       "substantial demurrage costs", don't you?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   At the end of the first paragraph you say:

        18

        19            As you have explained to us the delays in

        20            discharge were causing you to incur

        21            substantial demurrage costs and affecting

        22            the viability of your trade.

        23

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   The use of the words "as you have explained" suggests,

        27       does it not, Ms Drake-Brockman, that there was a

        28       discussion?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   A discussion with you?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   In Mr Stott's signed letter, he refers, does he not,

        35       to "substantial demurrage bills"?

        36       A.   Yes, correct.

        37

        38       Q.   The unsigned letter which you have in the witness

        39       box --

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   -- does not use the word "substantial" at all, does

        43       it?

        44       A.   No, it refers to "significant demurrage costs".

        45

        46       Q.   Not "substantial"?

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   And nowhere in either Mr Stott's signed letter or his

         3       unsigned letter is there any reference to the substantial

         4       demurrage cost "affecting the viability of your trade", is

         5       there?

         6       A.   That's correct.  I don't believe it occurs in either

         7       version of the fax.

         8

         9       Q.   What I'm suggesting to you is that that is another

        10       matter that was explained in a discussion with you, wasn't

        11       it?

        12       A.   Not with me, Mr Lacava, no.

        13

        14       MR LACAVA:   That would be a convenient time for the break,

        15       Mr Commissioner.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'll adjourn.

        18

        19       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        20

        21       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Could we have the two documents up on the

        22       screen, please - WST.0004.0004 and AWB.0106.0109 - both

        23       parts of exhibit 77.  Ms Drake-Brockman, it's your clear

        24       evidence, isn't it, that you did not draft the letter that

        25       you ultimately signed on 2 November 2000?

        26       A.   That's correct.

        27

        28       Q.   Who do you say did sign it?

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Drafted it.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Q.   Did draft it?

        33       A.   I don't know who drafted it.

        34

        35       Q.   You have no idea?

        36       A.   I have no idea.

        37

        38       Q.   It would have been an officer in your department,

        39       wouldn't it, if it wasn't yourself?

        40       A.   Department - do you mean an officer in my branch?

        41

        42       Q.   In your branch?

        43       A.   No, that would not have been my assumption at the

        44       time.  On the contrary, I would have assumed it was drafted

        45       in international legal division.

        46

        47       Q.   So it would not have been Mr Cuddihy?
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         1       A.   It would not have been Mr Cuddihy who would have

         2       drafted this.

         3

         4       Q.   And it would not have been Ms Courtney?

         5       A.   It's possible that Ms Courtney might have had a hand

         6       in the drafting - top and tailing, or clearing.

         7

         8       Q.   "Top and tailing", what do you mean by that?

         9

        10       MR ROBERTSON:   May she answer the question, please?

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   She may.

        13

        14       Q.   What do you mean by "top and tailing"?

        15

        16       MR ROBERTSON:   Well, perhaps she should be allowed to

        17       answer your first question before you go on to your second

        18       question.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You were giving an answer about --

        21       A.   The question - I may need to be reminded.  I think I

        22       was asked would Ms Courtney have drafted --

        23

        24       Q.   "And it would not have been Ms Courtney?"  You said,

        25       "It's possible that Ms Courtney might have had a hand in

        26       the drafting - top and tailing, or clearing".

        27       A.   That's right.

        28

        29       Q.   Had you finished that answer?

        30       A.   She might - and clearing or editing, redrafting.  It's

        31       possible that Ms Courtney had a role in drafting this with

        32       other officers, yes.

        33

        34       MR LACAVA:   Q.  She has told the Commission that she did

        35       not.  On what basis do you say it's possible that she did?

        36

        37       MR ROBERTSON:   Mr Commissioner, I'm not sure that that was

        38       the evidence.  Perhaps my friend has a transcript

        39       reference.  My recollection is Ms Courtney said she didn't

        40       have a recollection, but I may be wrong there, sir.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   We're just checking it, Mr Commissioner.  That

        43       was our recollection.  It's taking us a minute to turn up

        44       the transcript.

        45

        46       MR LACAVA:   It may be that I've overstated it.  She

        47       certainly, I think, said she couldn't recall.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you have a transcript reference?

         3

         4       MR LACAVA:   I don't have one with me.  In her first

         5       statutory declaration she said "I cannot rule out being

         6       involved in the preparation of the letter of 2 November by

         7       Jane Drake-Brockman, although I have no recollection".

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   It does appear you may have overstated

        10       it.

        11

        12       MR LACAVA:   Q.   In any event, Ms Drake-Brockman, is it

        13       your evidence that the whole of the letter was probably

        14       drafted by international legal division?

        15       A.   It would be my understanding that officers in my

        16       branch would have at least top and tailed the letter,

        17       meaning provided my signature block, provided the address,

        18       put it into our divisional letterhead.

        19

        20       Q.   Before international legal division would draft the

        21       letter, they would be provided with a draft, would they

        22       not, from officers in your branch?

        23       A.   No, not necessarily.

        24

        25       Q.   What would they be provided with?

        26       A.   What would ILD officers be provided with; is that the

        27       question?

        28

        29       Q.   Yes.

        30       A.   They would normally be provided - normal process would

        31       be with the raw material, with the incoming paperwork from

        32       outside the department to which we wanted to respond.

        33

        34       Q.   That is, Mr Stott's unsigned fax or his signed fax?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Would there be some sort of request in writing to

        38       international legal division that would be brought into

        39       existence?

        40       A.   Not necessarily - rarely.  Sometimes.

        41

        42       Q.   Is there any paper trail that you can think of which

        43       would show what it was that went from the Middle East and

        44       Africa branch to the international legal division about

        45       this letter?

        46       A.   None that I could refer to with certainty.  In the

        47       case of an urgent matter, it's more likely that the
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         1       interaction took place orally.  It could have been - no, I

         2       have no further information.

         3

         4       Q.   Assuming that the Middle East and Africa branch

         5       received the signed fax from Mr Stott on 30 October, where

         6       would that fax have been kept?

         7       A.   Assuming ILD had received the signed fax --

         8

         9       Q.   No, assuming the Middle East and Africa branch

        10       received the signed fax, where would --

        11       A.   Assuming the Middle East and Africa branch received

        12       it, where would it be kept subsequently?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if my friend could be clear in that

        17       question.  There are two possibilities, I imagine,

        18       following on from his previous question, either it went to

        19       ILD or it didn't.  I wonder if the question that he now

        20       asks could take into account those two possibilities.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Well, it might have got mixed up with an

        25       unresponsive answer, but I'll put it again.

        26

        27       Q.   Assuming that the Middle East and Africa branch

        28       received the signed fax from Mr Stott on 30 October, where

        29       would that fax have been kept?

        30       A.   I don't know with precision - on a Middle East and

        31       Africa branch file.  I couldn't tell you with precision

        32       which file.

        33

        34       Q.   Assuming the signed fax, when received by the Middle

        35       East and Africa branch, was forwarded by someone within it

        36       to ILD, where would it be kept?

        37       A.   This is assuming still that it's been received in

        38       MAB --

        39

        40       Q.   And sent to ILD?

        41       A.   -- and assuming it's been sent to ILD, where would it

        42       be kept in ILD?

        43

        44       Q.   Yes.

        45       A.   I have no idea.

        46

        47       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, the signed fax from Mr Stott was
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         1       addressed to Jill Courtney, wasn't it?

         2       A.   Yes.  "Dear Jill".

         3

         4       Q.   Do you see that on the screen?

         5       A.   "Dear Jill" I see.

         6

         7       Q.   Making allowance for the misspelling at the top of the

         8       page, it's addressed to her?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Correct?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   How did it come about that you signed the letter in

        15       response?

        16       A.   It was presented to me, the response was presented to

        17       me for signature because I was the senior officer, and this

        18       was a formal piece of communication with the AWB.  It was

        19       normal to sign it at my level.

        20

        21       Q.   Mr Stott's letter, signed letter, refers to a previous

        22       discussion, doesn't it, in the second --

        23       A.   The signed letter?

        24

        25       Q.   In the second sentence?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   I suggest to you that you had a discussion with him

        29       after the unsigned fax was forwarded to you and before the

        30       signed fax was forwarded to you.  Now, that's so, isn't it?

        31       A.   Absolutely not.  Absolutely it is not the case.  I

        32       disagree completely with your suggestion.

        33

        34       Q.   You have gone to great pains, haven't you, in each of

        35       your statutory declarations to deny any discussion

        36       whatsoever with Mr Stott; correct?

        37       A.   That's correct.

        38

        39       Q.   That's because you know, don't you, that his signed

        40       fax refers to a discussion?

        41       A.   No, that is not the case.

        42

        43       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, have you taken any steps to remove

        44       the signed Charles Stott fax from DFAT files?

        45       A.   Certainly not.

        46

        47       Q.   Are you aware of any reason why the signed fax has not
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         1       been produced by DFAT to this inquiry?

         2       A.   No, I am aware of no reason at all.  I don't know why,

         3       other than that they don't have it.

         4

         5       Q.   Are you aware of any reason as to why it was not

         6       provided by DFAT to the IIC in April of last year?

         7       A.   No, other than that my assumption is that they don't

         8       have it.

         9

        10       Q.   I suggest to you that it hasn't been produced because

        11       it confirms a discussion having taken place with you,

        12       doesn't it?

        13       A.   No, it does not.  It does not confirm a discussion,

        14       and that would not be the reason it hasn't been presented.

        15

        16       Q.   Does it not say in the second sentence "As previously

        17       discussed"?

        18       A.   Yes, it does.

        19

        20       Q.   That would suggest that there was a discussion,

        21       wouldn't it?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   The matters that are referred to in Mr Stott's signed

        25       letter and your signed response --

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   -- are they matters that you would normally expect an

        29       officer of the standing of Ms Courtney to be able to deal

        30       with, or should it be an officer of higher rank, such as

        31       yourself?

        32       A.   The standing - I don't know quite what the words "the

        33       standing" mean, if they refer only to rank.  I would not

        34       expect Ms Courtney to handle the issues raised in the fax.

        35       It might be appropriate for an officer of director level

        36       rank to handle those matters.

        37

        38       Q.   So if there was a discussion, it's likely to have been

        39       with yourself, isn't it?

        40       A.   Certainly not.

        41

        42       Q.   You were the director, were you not?

        43       A.   I was the assistant secretary, the branch head.

        44

        45       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, have you been able to read the

        46       second statutory declaration of Ms Courtney --

        47       A.   No.



            .20/3/06 (49)              4859     J E DRAKE-BROCKMAN (Mr Lacava)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   -- given to this inquiry?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   You've never read it?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   Could we have brought up, please, DFT.0013.0142.  Do

         9       you see there on the monitor, Ms Drake-Brockman --

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   -- I want to take you to paragraph 13 - this is of

        13       Ms Courtney's second statutory declaration, sworn

        14       18 February this year?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you follow?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   She says:

        21

        22            When I saw the name 'Alia' in newspaper

        23            reports of the Cole Inquiry over the last

        24            few weeks in relation to the Jordanian

        25            trucking company used by AWB I recognised

        26            the name and I now believe that it was a

        27            name that I had heard in that context

        28            during the time I worked in the Middle East

        29            branch in 2000 and 2001.

        30

        31       Do you see that?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   In her evidence to the inquiry Ms Courtney - and I

        35       summarise - said that in her time working in the Middle

        36       East and Africa branch between April 2000 and I think it

        37       was January 2001 she had heard the name "Alia", associated

        38       it with a Jordanian trucking company that was used by AWB.

        39       Now, what I suggest to you is that during 2000, whilst you

        40       were the assistant secretary of the Middle East and Africa

        41       branch at DFAT, it was known to you and your staff that the

        42       name "Alia" was that of a Jordanian trucking company and

        43       that that company was being used by AWB.  That's so, isn't

        44       it?

        45       A.   I know nothing of what my staff knew.  I had none of

        46       the knowledge you refer to.  I disagree with you.

        47
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         1       Q.   I'm asking you, Ms Drake-Brockman, about common

         2       knowledge in your department on your watch in 2000 - do you

         3       understand what I mean?

         4       A.   Yes, yes.  It was - the matters you raised were not

         5       common knowledge in my branch during my watch.

         6

         7       Q.   You had not heard it; is that what you say?

         8       A.   That's correct.  I had no awareness - that is what I

         9       have said in my statutory declaration.  I have no awareness

        10       whatsoever of the word "Alia ".

        11

        12       Q.   You want to distance yourself from Mr Stott's signed

        13       fax, don't you?

        14       A.   I have no particular reason to want to do that.

        15

        16       Q.   Oh, yes you do, don't you, Ms Drake-Brockman?

        17       A.   None to my knowledge.

        18

        19       Q.   It's because it refers to a discussion.

        20       A.   No, I disagree with you.  From my perspective, both

        21       versions refer to engagement of some kind with the

        22       department.

        23

        24       Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, after you sent your signed

        25       response, Mr Stott phoned you, didn't he?

        26       A.   Not to my recollection.

        27

        28       Q.   You told him, didn't you, that you knew of Alia, that

        29       the department knew of Alia, and you were comfortable with

        30       Alia?

        31       A.   I never told Mr Stott any of those things, no.

        32

        33       Q.   Can you explain why this vital piece of evidence, this

        34       letter, has vanished off the DFAT files?

        35       A.   I cannot explain to you anything to do with that piece

        36       of correspondence, no.

        37

        38       Q.   Has anyone phoned you or contacted you in the period

        39       of the last 12 months, or thereabouts, and asked you if you

        40       have a copy in your possession of the signed letter from

        41       Mr Stott of 30 October?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   So DFAT has made no inquiries of you?

        45       A.   None whatsoever.

        46

        47       Q.   Is that right?
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         1       A.   None whatsoever.

         2

         3       MR LACAVA:   I have no further questions.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

         6

         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Q.   Just picking up that last point,

        10       Ms Drake-Brockman - I might say that I appear on behalf of

        11       AWB and AWBI - we understand from some evidence which the

        12       Commission proposes to call that there was an

        13       investigation, internal investigation, by DFAT in mid-2005,

        14       well after your departure, into, as we understand it, the

        15       circumstances in which this letter of yours to Mr Stott had

        16       come about.

        17       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        18

        19       Q.   There's no doubt that you were asked about that letter

        20       by the IIC investigators?

        21       A.   Correct.

        22

        23       Q.   And you would have understood that letter to be, at

        24       least from that time on, an important document within DFAT

        25       in connection with the issues that are presently being

        26       explored before this Commission and that were being

        27       explored by the Volcker Inquiry?

        28       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Were you ever contacted by anyone from within DFAT at

        31       any time around the time of your interview with the IIC and

        32       thereafter up until now informing you of the fact of an

        33       internal investigation into the circumstances in which this

        34       letter was produced?

        35       A.   No, no, I never was contacted or informed of that.

        36

        37       Q.   So no-one's asked you any questions, apart from the

        38       IIC investigators and those here today and Friday, about

        39       that letter?

        40       A.   That's absolutely correct.

        41

        42       Q.   And you've not been informed of the outcome of any

        43       internal investigation that might have been conducted by

        44       DFAT into the circumstances in which this letter was

        45       produced?

        46       A.   No.

        47
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         1       Q.   So as you sit here today, you're none the wiser as to

         2       who actually drafted the letter?

         3       A.   That's correct.  There's one small exception to the

         4       answer I gave, the penultimate answer, and that is that I

         5       recall asking whether anything had been found on ILD files

         6       and being informed no.  It was a casual request and a

         7       casual answer.

         8

         9       Q.   But that was an inquiry initiated by you?

        10       A.   Absolutely.

        11

        12       Q.   Can I just ask you about the relevant hierarchy within

        13       your section --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- perhaps ascending to the position of the minister.

        17       During the period of your employment by DFAT in 2000, as we

        18       come to the end of your DFAT career --

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   -- who did you report to?

        22       A.   I reported directly to Mr Greg Irwin, the first

        23       assistant secretary.

        24

        25       Q.   Yes, and Mr Irwin would report to?

        26       A.   Mr John Dauth, the deputy secretary.

        27

        28       Q.   Next up the train?

        29       A.   Was the secretary, Dr Ashton Calvert.

        30

        31       Q.   He would report to the minister?

        32       A.   That's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   I think you said in your evidence on Friday that DFAT

        35       was fastidious about the sanction regime; do you recall

        36       giving evidence to that effect?

        37       A.   Yes, I do.

        38

        39       Q.   Does it follow that if information came to your notice

        40       that suggested that AWB might have been involved in a

        41       breach of sanctions, you would have done something about

        42       that?

        43       A.   The question is not very precise.  I think my answer

        44       is yes.

        45

        46       Q.   I'll make it a little more precise.  It was intended

        47       to be general, and I'll ask it again, perhaps with some
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         1       added clarity.  If you became acquainted with facts that

         2       indicated to you that there was a possibility that AWB was

         3       involved in a breach of sanctions concerning its wheat

         4       trade with Iraq, would you regard that as information about

         5       which you would need to do something?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Would it be information that you would take to your

         9       immediate superior in the ordinary course?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And you would expect that your immediate superior

        13       would do something about it, either make inquiries or take

        14       it to his or her immediate superior?

        15       A.   Or delegate, instruct me to do something about it.

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.  All right.  Now, you said in your evidence

        18       that you don't recall, at least, seeing the cable from

        19       Bronte Moules of 13 January 2000?

        20       A.   That's correct.

        21

        22       Q.   You've since had occasion to read --

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   -- that cable?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Had you read and absorbed the information contained in

        29       it in 2000, at or about the time it was sent --

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   -- would you - I'm asking perhaps hypothetically:  had

        33       you read the information at about the time it was received

        34       by DFAT - that is, around January of 2000 - can we assume

        35       that you would have taken some steps, some action, as a

        36       consequence of reading that information?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   A step you would have taken at least would have been

        40       to make contact with your superior about it?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        44

        45       MR CARTER:   Commissioner, there's a third statutory

        46       declaration which has not found its way to us yet, the one

        47       that was talked about this morning.  I seek to look at that
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         1       before I ask questions.  There were some copies on their

         2       way.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Is my friend referring to the statutory

         5       declaration that I passed to my learned friend Mr Orr this

         6       morning?

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         9

        10       MR CARTER:   Yes.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Would you excuse me for a moment?

        13

        14       MR CARTER:   I think that's the only additional statutory

        15       declaration of this witness identified this morning.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   As I understand it, there is some material in

        18       the cables annexed to this third statutory declaration

        19       which needs to be edited.  That process was being

        20       undertaken this morning, after I received the statutory

        21       declaration and made it available.  I should indicate that

        22       I saw this for the first time at 10 o'clock, or shortly

        23       thereafter.  As I understand it, the editing is on some of

        24       the cables.  I can't say whether it's one or more than one.

        25

        26            As to the statutory declaration itself, I do not

        27       believe there's any editing being done on the statutory

        28       declaration.  I'm happy to make the statutory declaration

        29       available and the list of the cables.  It will just take a

        30       few minutes to get the edited copies down here.  I did

        31       believe they'd be ready by now.

        32

        33       MR CARTER:   Commissioner, perhaps I will start, and if

        34       that can just be handed across to me when it is ready.

        35       I'll see if I can proceed on my feet, otherwise I'll ask

        36       for five minutes.

        37

        38       <EXAMINATION BY MR CARTER:

        39

        40       MR CARTER:   Q.   Ms Drake-Brockman, I want to ask you a

        41       few questions about your meeting with the Independent

        42       Inquiry Committee on 6 April 2005.  You've also been asked

        43       some questions about that.  Can I just confirm your

        44       evidence to date.  You were seated in a room at DFAT

        45       offices in Canberra?

        46       A.   Yes, correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   And the interview took place over the phone?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   You said this morning, in response to questions by my

         5       learned friend Mr Lacava, that there were two men from DFAT

         6       present.

         7       A.   Yes, and I then said perhaps I was mistaken, perhaps

         8       one of them - I think they were both men.

         9

        10       Q.   I'm not wanting to be facetious about this, but how

        11       clear is your recollection of who was present?

        12       A.   I wasn't focused at all on who accompanied me.

        13       Somebody met me downstairs and accompanied me upstairs,

        14       somebody I'd never met before or since.  I was focused on

        15       the interview I was about to have.

        16

        17       Q.   All right.  So it's not a matter of not being able to

        18       distinguish a man from a woman, it's a matter of your

        19       recollection?

        20       A.   It wasn't relevant to me at the time.  I think there

        21       were two men.

        22

        23       Q.   This is April last year, less than 12 months ago.

        24       A.   That's right, that's right.

        25

        26       Q.   Can I ask you what lead-up notice you had had of that

        27       interview?

        28       A.   I had received a phone call from someone in DFAT.

        29

        30       Q.   Who from?

        31       A.   A relatively junior officer whose name didn't mean

        32       anything to me.  I don't recall.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, what were you told --

        35       A.   A woman.

        36

        37       Q.   -- about what the purpose of the interview was to be?

        38       A.   I was asked whether I was prepared to volunteer to

        39       give evidence to the Volcker commission.

        40

        41       Q.   To give evidence?

        42       A.   Whether I was prepared to volunteer - I was told that

        43       the IIC investigators had asked whether I would speak to

        44       them, and I was asked by DFAT whether, on a voluntary

        45       basis, I was prepared to come in.  I'm not a lawyer and I'm

        46       very unfamiliar with legal processes, and I don't really

        47       remember the exact language that was used.  I certainly
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         1       felt - it was my first time I'd been engaged in any kind of

         2       legal process.  I felt I was being asked to, in effect,

         3       give evidence.

         4

         5       Q.   Can I just interrupt there.  I'm not interested in

         6       what the exact language was, Ms Drake-Brockman; I'm

         7       interested in what your understanding was as to the point

         8       of that interview.

         9       A.   I was asked whether, on a voluntary basis, because I

        10       was the senior officer, and in my capacity as assistant

        11       secretary of the Middle East and Africa branch during those

        12       years --

        13

        14       Q.   Yes?

        15       A.   -- I was prepared to come in and talk to the

        16       investigators.  I assumed at the time that all the

        17       incumbents in that position over a period of years had

        18       similarly been asked.  That was my assumption.

        19

        20       Q.   You understood what the Volcker committee was

        21       investigating?

        22       A.   Absolutely not.

        23

        24       Q.   Absolutely not?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   You had no idea what it was about?

        28       A.   I had the vaguest idea from - the vaguest idea that I

        29       may have had from newspaper reporting.

        30

        31       Q.   By the time you came to speak over the telephone, did

        32       you have an idea of what it was about?

        33       A.   No more precision than when I'd been first asked to

        34       come in.

        35

        36       Q.   All right.  Could we bring up, please, DFT.0001.0434 -

        37       that's exhibit 590.  You're familiar with that document, I

        38       take it?

        39       A.   Yes, I am, and with my corrections to it, yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Going back to your evidence on Friday, you say that

        42       the corrections are really of an editorial nature?

        43       A.   I said that a subset of them were of an editorial

        44       nature.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, your evidence at transcript page 4793, line 8,

        47       was that it contained only minor editorial errors.  Does
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         1       that remain your evidence?

         2       A.   Today --

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   We have them, Mr Carter.  How one

         5       categorises them doesn't matter.

         6

         7       MR CARTER:   Commissioner, with respect, I'm simply

         8       reminding, as a matter of fairness, the witness of her

         9       evidence and asking her to confirm that that's correct

        10       before I move on.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we're just playing with words.

        13       Can we get on to the substance.

        14

        15       MR CARTER:   They were her words.

        16

        17       MR ROBERTSON:   Sorry, Mr Commissioner, if this of any

        18       significance whatsoever, my learned friend should either

        19       read out the whole of this witness's answer or take her to

        20       the transcript.  He can't choose bits that might suit him,

        21       with respect.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think we need to go there at

        24       all.  I have the statement and I have the alterations.  How

        25       they're characterised doesn't seem to me to make the

        26       slightest difference.

        27

        28       MR CARTER:   Well, Commissioner, between you and my learned

        29       friend we've spent three times as much on it as I was going

        30       to, so I am going to move on.

        31

        32       Q.   Witness, the situation is - if the witness could be

        33       taken back to the document previously on the screen - in

        34       the third paragraph the summary states that you stated:

        35

        36            ...that the Australian Government and the

        37            Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

        38            took the sanctions extremely seriously.  It

        39            was her responsibility to ensure that the

        40            sanctions were enforced in as much as any

        41            export to Iraq had to have formal written

        42            permission from [you].

        43

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Going back to my previous question before the

        47       disruption, I was putting to you were you aware, by the
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         1       time you came to partake in that telephone conversation, of

         2       what the point of it was?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   So you were just making this statement about the

         6       Australian government and the Department of Foreign Affairs

         7       and Trade in a vacuum?

         8       A.   As I explained earlier this morning, on arrival in

         9       this room in DFAT I was presented with a copy of the letter

        10       I had signed to Mr Stott.  That was presented to me moments

        11       before the telephone conversation commenced.

        12

        13       Q.   So other than a telephone call from someone you say

        14       relatively junior within DFAT and meeting these two people

        15       who you can't identify at all, you say there was --

        16       A.   I can identify to some extent.  I told you that - I'm

        17       sorry, I responded earlier this morning one was from the

        18       legal branch and one I thought was from the Iraqi task

        19       force.

        20

        21       Q.   Perhaps the document currently on the screen could be

        22       scrolled down to the next page.  Do you see there in the

        23       first paragraph - I'm wondering if this assists your

        24       memory - the summary states:

        25

        26            Mr Bliss provided details on structure of

        27            the DFAT Legal Division...

        28

        29       A.   Mr Bliss, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Do I take it that that means that he was present for

        32       the telephone conversation?

        33       A.   He would have been present.

        34

        35       Q.   Yes.  And then, in the following --

        36       A.   I - yes, sorry.

        37

        38       Q.   Sorry, there was something you wanted to add?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   In the following paragraph it indicates that Mr Bliss

        42       went on to provide details, and three individual members of

        43       the international legal division are nominated.

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Which of those four people, if any, did you liaise

        47       with in relation to the trucking fees letters?
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         1       A.   I personally liaised with none of them.  I also think

         2       that - I think, from information since - I'm not sure that

         3       this information is correct in the last sentence, the

         4       section heads would have been.  I don't know if that's

         5       accurate.  I don't know either of those people in that

         6       context, and I personally did not liaise with any of those

         7       people or anyone else in ILD on this issue.

         8

         9       Q.   You were asked some questions by Mr Agius on Friday

        10       about a number of cables that were cced to you in the early

        11       part of the year 2000.

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Trying to deal with this as shortly as I can, my

        15       interest in those cables concerns they raised allegations

        16       of contravention of sanctions by an Australian company -

        17       namely, AWB - correct?

        18       A.   The cables that Mr Agius showed me at which point on

        19       Friday, please?

        20

        21       Q.   Well, the ones that you talk about in your first

        22       statutory declaration, paragraph 20 --

        23       A.   Right, those ones, okay.

        24

        25       Q.   -- which I'm happy for you to look at.

        26       A.   They raised questions - I don't remember your precise

        27       wording of the question, but they raised questions, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Let's just take an example.  The first one was dated

        30       13 January 2000, and it came from Bronte Moules in New

        31       York.  You recall that?  It's annexed to your first

        32       statutory declaration.

        33       A.   I don't believe it's annexed to my first statutory

        34       declaration.  I personally read it with inquiry solicitors

        35       present, and I didn't retain a copy.  I learnt last week,

        36       late last week, that my solicitor had retained a copy.  I

        37       read it the once, when it was shown to me originally by the

        38       inquiry.

        39

        40       Q.   All right.

        41       A.   I don't believe it was annexed to my stat dec.

        42

        43       Q.   Okay.  As I understand your evidence - please correct

        44       me if I'm wrong; we can go to the transcript itself - you

        45       accept that this cable was forwarded to you and you accept

        46       the evidence from the cables expert that it was in fact

        47       opened, but you say it was probably opened by an assistant
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         1       of yours?

         2       A.   It was most certainly not opened by me, so if it was

         3       opened, it was probably opened by someone else in the

         4       branch.

         5

         6       Q.   And it's your sworn evidence that at no stage

         7       subsequent to this inquiry was that particular cable ever

         8       drawn to your attention?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   It wasn't drawn to your attention by any officer

        12       within DFAT prior to the Volcker interview?

        13       A.   That's correct.

        14

        15       Q.   It wasn't discussed with you by any officer within

        16       DFAT, including those present at the interview, prior to

        17       the telephone interview?

        18       A.   That's correct.

        19

        20       Q.   Can you offer any explanation for that?

        21       A.   No, none.

        22

        23       Q.   Because the --

        24       A.   I wasn't aware of the cable until I was shown it by

        25       the Commission.

        26

        27       Q.   But you remained at DFAT until 17 November 2000?

        28       A.   Or later, yes, that's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   You would agree with me that those cables - when I say

        31       "those cables", I mean the first four cables identified in

        32       paragraph 20 of your first statutory declaration - were

        33       copied to you?

        34

        35       MR ROBERTSON:   I think, Mr Commissioner, the witness has

        36       said she doesn't have those and they're not annexed to her

        37       statement.  For accuracy's sake, may they just be shown?

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you just identify them, Mr Carter?

        40

        41       MR CARTER:   Sorry, sir, I wasn't trying to be unfair.

        42       It's the cables dated 13 January 2000, 18 January 2000,

        43       10 March 2000 and 22 March 2000.  In the form that we were

        44       provided them they came as copies.  The other thing that

        45       came in the form we got them from the inquiry was a summary

        46       of each of them.  It's a document DFT.0013.0161.  If it's

        47       possible to bring that up, it might assist.
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         1

         2       Q.   This will save us going through them individually.  If

         3       you accept that the first four documents in that summary

         4       are cables that were cced to you?

         5

         6       MR ROBERTSON:   Mr Commissioner, I don't know that the

         7       witness has ever seen this summary before, so she might

         8       perhaps have a chance to read it.

         9

        10       MR CARTER:   Certainly.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Would you like to see the cables,

        13       Ms Drake-Brockman?

        14       A.   No, I think I can deduce from this piece of paper,

        15       Mr Commissioner.  May I make a - may I ask a question?

        16       2.4 looks to me wrong.  It looks as if that's a

        17       communication from ACT to UNNY, not UNNY to ACT.  Can I

        18       have clarification on that, please?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Yes, the 22 March cable is from Mr Bowker to

        21       the UN Mission?

        22

        23       THE WITNESS:   So the piece of paper is incorrect here?

        24

        25       MR CARTER:   We can bring up the document.

        26

        27       THE WITNESS:   I think I know now what we're referring to,

        28       with that correction made.

        29

        30       MR CARTER:   Q.   That particular document was marked for

        31       your attention along with others under the subheading of

        32       "Action".

        33

        34       MR ROBERTSON:   Perhaps she might be shown it, if we're

        35       going to go into detail, Mr Commissioner.

        36

        37       MR CARTER:   Commissioner, I will do that.  Counsel

        38       assisting did take the witness to it, perhaps not in the

        39       detail that one would have expected.  It is  DFT.0001.0169.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   It's exhibit 486.

        42

        43       MR CARTER:   Q.   It's a bit hard to read on the screen,

        44       but if you'd just take a moment to recap the content of it.

        45       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Then if it could be scrolled up, you can see --
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Do you know the date it was printed, 23 February 2005?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   Does that indicate to you that it's been downloaded

         7       electronically within DFAT on that date?

         8       A.   I just don't know anything about printing or uploading

         9       or downloading in DFAT since my departure.  It doesn't

        10       indicate anything to me.

        11

        12       Q.   You do know that that predates your interview with the

        13       Volcker people by a couple of months?

        14       A.   I can see that, yes.

        15

        16       Q.   But you can't explain why this document wasn't drawn

        17       to your attention prior to that interview?

        18       A.   No, it was not drawn to my attention.  The only

        19       document that I was provided with for my interview was the

        20       letter I signed by Mr Stott - to Mr Stott.

        21

        22       Q.   If we could just scroll that document up, please.  You

        23       can see there --

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   -- it has "Action", and then "Information", and then

        27       there's another heading "Action" --

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   -- and you're included there?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   What would that mean in the ordinary course of events

        34       when your name was listed next to the word "Action"?

        35       A.   On a cable leaving Canberra going to a post "Action",

        36       it would show the recipient of the post who the responsible

        37       officers in Canberra were beyond the actual person who

        38       drafted and sent the cable, where responsibility in the

        39       department lay, if there was to be any further follow-up

        40       action.

        41

        42       Q.   But your evidence is that in respect of this and the

        43       preceding cables concerning allegations emanating from a

        44       third country you did nothing?

        45       A.   My evidence is that I did not read the cables, any of

        46       the five; that the content of the cables, any of the five,

        47       was not drawn to my attention; and that I personally
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         1       undertook no follow-up action.

         2

         3       Q.   What would be the point in people sending things for

         4       your attention if they were not to be read by you or at

         5       least drawn to your attention?

         6       A.   It's very difficult to read something if you're not

         7       physically in the office, if you're either on leave or

         8       interstate or overseas.  Beyond that, I can't answer your

         9       question.

        10

        11       Q.   I should say, in fairness, are these cables something

        12       that are dealt with in your statutory declaration that's

        13       been provided this morning?

        14       A.   Possibly some of them, yes, but they were dealt with

        15       this morning also with Mr Agius.  The dates on which I was

        16       or wasn't in the office, those five dates that were put to

        17       me refer to these five cables.

        18

        19       Q.   Look, accepting for the sake of my question that you

        20       were on leave for all of these dates - I'm not sure that

        21       that is the state of the evidence, but accepting that for a

        22       moment - would you agree that the contents of each of these

        23       cables sent to very high-ranking members of the Australian

        24       government, including officers such as yourself, should

        25       have been drawn to your attention after you got back from

        26       leave?

        27       A.   Yes, yes, and that is the same answer I gave to

        28       counsel assisting on Friday.

        29

        30       Q.   Do you also accept that when you were being prepared,

        31       as a senior responsible officer, for the interview with the

        32       Volcker Inquiry these cables should have been drawn, (a),

        33       to your attention and, (b), to the attention of the

        34       interviewing Volcker officers?

        35

        36       MR ROBERTSON:   I object to that question, Mr Commissioner.

        37       There doesn't seem to be a basis on which this witness

        38       could answer that question, given her state of knowledge

        39       about what the Volcker Inquiry involved.

        40

        41       MR CARTER:   Sir, I ask that I be permitted to ask that.

        42       We're not bound strictly by the rules of evidence in this

        43       commission.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll allow the question.

        46

        47       THE WITNESS:   I don't know.  I don't know.  I didn't know
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         1       sufficiently what the Volcker Inquiry was about or what my

         2       possible role in the interview might be.  And even with

         3       hindsight I can't answer your question, other than that I

         4       don't know.

         5

         6       MR CARTER:   Q.   I took you earlier to a statement or a

         7       section of your summary statement to the Volcker

         8       investigation where you stated that the Australian

         9       government, the Department of Foreign Affairs, took

        10       sanctions extremely seriously.  Can I ask you what was the

        11       source or the foundation in your mind for you to make that

        12       statement?

        13       A.   When I first took over responsibility for the branch I

        14       received the delegation of the Minister for Foreign

        15       Affairs.  I had to sign, in effect - sign for that

        16       delegation.  That has a certain formality to it.  It's

        17       something you take very seriously as a senior officer, if a

        18       minister has delegated a responsibility to you.  It was

        19       certainly presented to me in all seriousness, and the way

        20       in which the branch conducted its work was one of diligence

        21       and efficiency and it was a task - we had a task, a set of

        22       tasks, associated with the responsibility that we resourced

        23       despite huge resource pressures on the branch - which we

        24       resourced and we undertook seriously in a serious manner.

        25

        26       Q.   Are you able to identify or describe for us any

        27       written policy emanating within DFAT as to DFAT's

        28       responsibility with respect to the contract approval

        29       process?

        30       A.   In terms of policy documents, I mean, I would turn

        31       first to the UN resolution itself and to the detailed

        32       language of that resolution, and then to the Australian

        33       implementing legislation, if you like, which is the

        34       amendment to the Customs Act which related to the UN

        35       sanctions, and then I would refer to ministerial

        36       submissions to the minister over the period of years since

        37       that resolution and the minister's decisions and responses

        38       made in association with those sets of ministerial

        39       submissions.

        40

        41            There would also be records of what the policy was in

        42       abbreviated form provided on the DFAT web site or in

        43       off-the-shelf material that my branch would have had on

        44       file and that ILD would have had on file, so I would have

        45       had to go to a set of documents to provide an outline of

        46       what Australian government policy was.

        47
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         1       Q.   With respect to the contract approvals process?

         2       A.   With respect to the contract approvals process, was

         3       that your question?

         4

         5       Q.   Which was my question.

         6       A.   I'm sorry.  Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   So each of the pieces of information that you've

         9       identified you say all bear on that issue or my question of

        10       the contract approval process?

        11       A.   They would all have a bearing on that process, the

        12       nature of the process, responsibility for the process, and

        13       execution of it, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   In other words, we need to go a little bit beyond the

        16       web site to fully grapple with written policy within DFAT

        17       as to contract approval?

        18       A.   What was provided on the web site would have been

        19       considered by DFAT sufficient information for any company

        20       wishing to embark on the contract approval process.

        21

        22       Q.   In terms of - I think we're all clear about the

        23       relevant UN resolution and the implementing legislation.

        24       You next referred to ministerial submissions to the

        25       minister over the period of years since the resolution and

        26       the minister's decisions and responses.  Are you aware of

        27       any ministerial submission, breaking it up, if I may, in

        28       respect of the issues the subject of this inquiry?  Did you

        29       make ministerial submissions to the Foreign Minister whilst

        30       you occupied the position that you did in relation to

        31       trucking fees, for example?

        32       A.   No.  No.  I can recall no ministerial submission in my

        33       time directly relevant to the substance of this inquiry.

        34

        35       Q.   When you, in answer to my question about policy

        36       concerning contract approval process, referred to

        37       ministerial submissions and decisions, can you tell us what

        38       it is, for example, that you were referring to?

        39       A.   If I was sitting at my desk as branch head in those

        40       days and I was asked the question that you asked, I would

        41       go back over the files and look at all the ministerial

        42       submissions from the date on which the sanctions came into

        43       force to establish what the policy was.

        44

        45       Q.   All I want to deal with is the period of your

        46       employment.  Is your evidence that between April 1999 and

        47       December 2000, when you occupied the position of assistant
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         1       secretary of the Middle East and Africa branch, you first

         2       of all did not prepare any ministerial submission on the

         3       matters the subject of this inquiry?

         4       A.   Yes, I repeat my response to that question.  There's

         5       only one I can think of it, and it related to a request for

         6       permission from the minister to have a first Austrade visit

         7       into the region after we had established a new base,

         8       Austrade base, in effect, in Dubai, I think, a more senior

         9       base, and we had - in my watch I believe we prepared a

        10       ministerial submission on whether and when such an Austrade

        11       visit might be able to take place, and then the parameters

        12       that might be associated with how that visit could be

        13       conducted.

        14

        15       Q.   All right.  Now, that was a submission prepared by you

        16       individually?

        17       A.   I didn't draft it, no.  It would have been prepared

        18       under my watch by officers of the Middle East section, with

        19       final clearance coming, before it came to me, from

        20       Mr Bowker.

        21

        22       Q.   I want you to be clear about this.  Just to go back to

        23       the four cables that we were talking about before from the

        24       early part of 2000, you are not aware of any ministerial

        25       submission with respect to the contents of those cables?

        26       A.   No.  No.

        27

        28       Q.   Staying with your break-up of how we can identify

        29       policy, are you aware of any ministerial decision with

        30       respect to the contents of those cables in the early part

        31       of the year 2000?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   I want to finally ask you some brief questions, if I

        35       may, about the provision of information to you when you

        36       held the position that you did at DFAT from Australian

        37       intelligence services, and I'm not talking here about

        38       particular documents that you've been questioned on, but

        39       I'm talking about the manner of reception of that material

        40       generally; you understand that?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   Was it the case that you would directly receive

        44       intelligence reports from the various Australian

        45       intelligence agencies?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Would you receive that through some sort of liaison

         2       officer within DFAT - I should say from a person - "liaison

         3       officer" doesn't express it very well, but a person

         4       fulfilling a function of coordinating the flow of

         5       information between intelligence agencies and DFAT, or

         6       would you receive it directly?

         7       A.   I don't know.  I assume the former.

         8

         9       Q.   You can't remember how you used to receive it?

        10       A.   It's not a matter of recollection.  I don't know the

        11       details.

        12

        13       Q.   All right.  You would receive intelligence reports

        14       routinely?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Your understanding of why you would be receiving that

        18       intelligence was that it had some bearing on your job as

        19       assistant secretary of the Middle East and Africa branch?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   I want to be very careful here, sir, with exactly how

        23       far I'm permitted to go on the state of the current ruling:

        24       that would include both assessed and unassessed

        25       intelligence?

        26       A.   I'm not crystal clear what the word "unassessed"

        27       means, but with my understanding of what it means, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   I'll try another phrase.  I'm not sure if this means

        30       much either:  "raw intelligence" or "assessed

        31       intelligence"?

        32       A.   Yes, I received both.

        33

        34       Q.   You'd get all sorts of stuff, in other words?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Sometimes you would regard what you received as

        38       important, sometimes you would regard it as unimportant?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   In your mind, whether something was important or

        42       unimportant wouldn't necessarily depend on the label

        43       ascribed to it in terms of "assessed" or "unassessed",

        44       would it; it would be to do with the subject matter of what

        45       was in it; do you agree with that?

        46       A.   Would you mind asking me that question again?

        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.  Say you come to download a particular

         2       intelligence report or have it provided to you - I'm not

         3       sure how it would happen, and neither are you, is that

         4       right?

         5       A.   No, I know exactly how it was provided to me.

         6

         7       Q.   What, it would arrive in an envelope or you would

         8       download it, or --

         9       A.   It would be provided to me in hard copy.

        10

        11       Q.   Are you making a note of something at the moment?

        12       A.   Yes, I was trying to understand your question.

        13

        14       Q.   Let's see if I can help you more than your pen.  I've

        15       asked you previously some questions about assessed and

        16       unassessed intelligence, or raw intelligence reports,

        17       assessed intelligence reports?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   In your mind, when you looked at a particular

        21       intelligence report, I want to suggest to you that the

        22       important thing would be what it said, what its contents

        23       were, rather than any label that was given to it in terms

        24       of "assessed", "unassessed"; do you agree with that?

        25       A.   I understand the question now.  I'm reflecting.  I

        26       think that I personally would have attached more

        27       information - I would have - the assessed information was

        28       more important to me, because, you know, the assessed

        29       information was more important.

        30

        31       Q.   Why was that?

        32       A.   Because it meant that some other officer other than me

        33       had noticed it, thought it was important, and had assessed

        34       it.

        35

        36       Q.   Were there not situations where you would receive

        37       unassessed intelligence and say to yourself, "This should

        38       be assessed; this is important"?

        39       A.   I don't recall such a situation.  I do recall the bulk

        40       of the time thinking, "Oh, this is irrelevant.  Why do I

        41       have to read all this?"

        42

        43       Q.   But you would read it?

        44       A.   Sometimes.

        45

        46       Q.   Your evidence given the other day when my learned

        47       friend Mr Agius took you to the 17 documents was that you'd
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         1       not seen any of them; correct?

         2       A.   Yes, correct.

         3

         4       Q.   But there was a couple where you expressed some

         5       familiarity with the contents?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Do I take it that it follows from that, without in any

         9       way inquiring as to the source or contents of the

        10       documents, that you also saw other intelligence reports,

        11       assessed or unassessed, that related to the same topics?

        12       A.   No, no, that's not what I meant at all.

        13

        14       Q.   Is your evidence that you saw no other intelligence

        15       reports relating to, for example, the company Alia?

        16       A.   I had no awareness of the word even, "Alia".  I recall

        17       reading no reference to Alia anywhere from any source.

        18

        19       Q.   To Jordanian trucking companies?

        20       A.   I recall - I do not recall ever seeing a reference

        21       anywhere ever from any source, written and oral, other than

        22       Mr Stott's letter to me, fax to me - to Jill, sorry,

        23       Mr Stott's fax to Jill - about Jordanian trucking

        24       companies.

        25

        26       MR CARTER:   Subject to the opportunity to have a look at

        27       that statutory declaration, sir, I have no further

        28       questions.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do we have those documents, or not?

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   I haven't received them yet, Mr Commissioner.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Right.  We'll do that at 2 o'clock.

        35

        36       MR CARTER:   Thank you, sir.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can step down until 2 o'clock,

        39       Ms Drake-Brockman.

        40

        41            I have received, just so that it's clear, to date, in

        42       addition to the submissions of the Commonwealth, which have

        43       been tendered, submissions from Mr Judd and Mr Corbett

        44       dated 20 March; submissions on behalf of Mr Stott, from

        45       Mr Lacava and Ms Judd, dated 19 March; a second submission

        46       from Mr Barker and Mr Dharmananda dated 20 March;

        47       submissions on behalf of Rhine Ruhr from Mr Winneke, which
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         1       are undated; submissions from Mr Forrest and Mr Carter

         2       dated 17 March 2006; and the submissions from Mr Barker and

         3       Mr Dharmananda dated 15 March 2006.

         4

         5            The submissions of Mr Winneke in relation to Rhine

         6       Ruhr suggest that, because the summation of the documents

         7       marked secret exhibit 4 were not received until after some

         8       witnesses had given their evidence, they were not able to

         9       be cross-examined on that summation, and he seeks, as I

        10       understand it, to further examine Ms Moules and Mr Cuddihy.

        11       Is there anybody else who wishes to re-examine, further

        12       examine, any of the witnesses who have been called, being

        13       DFAT personnel, former personnel, apart from Mr Winneke?

        14       There being silence, I'll take that as a no.

        15

        16       MR FORREST:   Could we consider that over lunch,

        17       Mr Commissioner.  Ms Moules is the author of one of the

        18       cables.  Could we give you a considered answer at

        19       2 o'clock?

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  Mr Judd, I've read

        22       your submissions with interest.  If you go to

        23       paragraph 6 --

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   I may even have a copy, sir.  Yes.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not clear to me precisely what you

        28       mean there, and the same point I think is being addressed

        29       in paragraph 7 in the first two dot points.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   The point --

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let me say this to you before you

        34       start:  it was always my intention that I would at a

        35       comparatively early time - in other words, before the

        36       hearing is complete - in the reasons I will give indicate

        37       the material on which I would rely, or may rely, coming

        38       from the secret documents so that everybody would be aware

        39       that it was that information, and only that information,

        40       that I would take into account in determining the report.

        41       I'm not sure if that addresses what you had in mind or not.

        42

        43       MR JUDD:   I'm not sure it does.  I must say there was an

        44       assumption that that would occur at some point, because it

        45       would at least at a point in the proceeding when counsel

        46       assisting typically announces the matters about which

        47       adverse findings --
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think you'll find there is any

         3       announcement of that.  I would expect that counsel's

         4       submissions would be kept confidential, so as to avoid any

         5       unnecessary harm to reputational aspects, as would be the

         6       submissions in response.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   That may be so, but when I say "announce",

         9       advise, inform, so that we have an opportunity to respond

        10       in the usual way.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   It would be important at that point of

        13       time that you had before you all of the material before

        14       this Commission and which the Commission intended to

        15       consider.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   There are a number of concerns that we wanted to

        18       address, and these in a sense supplement what was said on a

        19       couple of previous occasions about this matter.  One

        20       element is to draw that distinction between the kind of

        21       summary that was used or proposed in the VEAL case where

        22       one has an allegation to say that's not apt in these

        23       circumstances, because what we have here is a situation

        24       where the subject matter of the documents, the information

        25       contained in them, is not so much an allegation that can be

        26       summarised but it goes to the very heart of what we

        27       understand to be an important issue, and that is the mind

        28       of the Commonwealth.

        29

        30            If we're right about that, if the mind of the

        31       Commonwealth, or what the Commonwealth knew, is an

        32       important issue, there are two problems that arise from

        33       that:  one is the process that has been adopted here in

        34       dealing with this matter, and in large measure Mr Barker

        35       addressed submissions on that, but we say that it's not

        36       possible for you, sir, to make the determination you have

        37       in the exercise of discretion without having taken into

        38       account the use to which this material might be put, and

        39       therefore the balancing --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't understand that.  I don't

        42       understand why you need to have regard to the use to which

        43       material may be put in determining what is the content of a

        44       document.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   It's not being put on that basis.  It's not that

        47       the determination of the content of the document depends
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         1       upon the use to which it might be put, but the use to which

         2       it might be put will impact significantly, in our

         3       submission, on the way in which the discretion to keep the

         4       document secret will be exercised.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   But why?  I don't follow that at all.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   Well, for example, if --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Obviously this material goes to an

        11       aspect of knowledge of the Commonwealth.  That, I should

        12       have thought, would go without saying.  If one has a

        13       finding as to what is the content of the documents to which

        14       the Commission will have regard, I don't understand the

        15       point you're making at 6 and 7.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   If the knowledge of the Commonwealth is going to

        18       be determined by these few witnesses put through this

        19       witness box, then in our submission we ought to know.  If

        20       the knowledge of the Commonwealth is going to be determined

        21       in some other way, the impact of these documents is

        22       significantly different.  If, for example, the knowledge of

        23       the Commonwealth remains, as we see, a central issue, we

        24       say that that matter will not be properly explored, as we

        25       say in the submissions, unless we know the sources of the

        26       information and where it went.  Otherwise one has suspended

        27       in mid-air, as it were --

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand the point about where it

        30       went, but that's a different point.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   And the sources of information becomes an

        33       important consideration, for the reasons set out in the

        34       submission - namely, if it came from countries which are

        35       members of the Security Council, it becomes then pertinent

        36       to the information of the UN.

        37

        38            The point that you addressed earlier, sir - namely,

        39       the particularity or some understanding of how it is that

        40       the use to which this material might be employed - depends

        41       upon what the Commission has in mind as to what the

        42       breaches are.  This is the point we reached the other day

        43       when you, sir, said, "Well, this of course is an inquiry",

        44       which it is.  In those circumstances, the inquiry might at

        45       this stage be reluctant to say in respect of what potential

        46       breaches of the law this material may be relevant.  In our

        47       submission, unless we get to that point, it's very
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         1       difficult to exercise the discretion properly and it's very

         2       difficult for us to determine what is the particular

         3       significance of each piece of evidence, except the mind of

         4       the Commonwealth generally.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's the point I don't understand.  I

         7       simply don't understand why, in an inquiry such as this, if

         8       there is a summation about which I am satisfied of

         9       documents, and that is made clear, and it is only that

        10       which I intend to take into account - only that in respect

        11       of those documents; there may be other material otherwise,

        12       which I'll have to take into account - I don't understand

        13       the point you're making.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Sir, I can only state it in so many different

        16       ways.  To us, in our respectful submission, it seems

        17       patently clear that, in the absence of some definition

        18       about the particular application of the evidence --

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   But the application of the evidence

        21       would come, in the hypothetical example we're dealing with,

        22       only at a very late point in time.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Yes, but that's --

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   One would have to first of all find

        27       that the ingredients of what I'll call a knowledge offence

        28       were established, and then one would have to go to the

        29       defence and see if knowledge of the Commonwealth was

        30       established to negate or to raise the defence.  That can't

        31       be done, I should have thought, until the whole of the

        32       evidence is complete.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, in a sense, that then brings us to

        35       the point where we say it's for that very reason that the

        36       process that's been adopted is inapt in this case.  It's

        37       because the Commission does not have the capacity to

        38       properly exercise the discretion because it's not yet at a

        39       point where it's able to apply its mind to the evidence and

        40       the particular application to which it's going to be put.

        41

        42            Now, of course, in a different proceeding where there

        43       are allegations made and the terms of the investigation by

        44       the tribunal are clear, one can make that determination.

        45       It's for that reason that we say this process should never

        46       have been adopted in the first place.  This Commission

        47       should never have placed itself in a position where it's
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         1       exercising discretion in the absence of, first of all,

         2       determining how this information is going to be used.

         3       That's the flaw.  In our submission, it's one incapable of

         4       remedy.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   If that's right, who else could have

         7       exercised the discretion?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   The Federal Court.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   How would they know what the issue was?

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   Well, the Federal Court would be looking at the

        14       issue on the basis of public interest immunity --

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   So am I.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   -- and the Federal Court would say these

        19       documents are immune from publication or they are not.  If

        20       they were immune from publication, they wouldn't be

        21       published.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm doing precisely the same thing so

        24       far.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   The problem is, sir, you have the documents and

        27       we have a summary and we don't know how the summary is

        28       going to be applied.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's the point where we depart.  The

        31       Federal Court wouldn't look at how it's applied.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   But the Federal Court, sir, with respect, is

        34       asking a different question.  The Federal Court is not

        35       exercising your discretion, sir; it's exercising a power to

        36       reject the production of documents under a notice on the

        37       basis that the claim for public interest immunity is sound.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   And so was I, may I say.

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   Well, I understand, sir, that the basis of the

        42       rejection is not so much the public interest immunity, but

        43       it's in the exercise of discretion to maintain the

        44       confidentiality of these documents under 6D.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Not at all.  The order I made was

        47       pursuant to section 6D, but I made it because I upheld the
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         1       claim for public interest immunity.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Well, we've said what we have to say.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   We'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

         6

         7       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

         8
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, can I just take up for one moment

         4       the issue that we engaged on before the luncheon

         5       adjournment.  It concerns the questions that you raised

         6       with me about our submissions.  If I can summarise our

         7       point in this way:  we say, of course, that the use of a

         8       summary, as we have said in the submission, is not

         9       appropriate where one speaks of an allegation as opposed to

        10       matters of evidence that go to such a crucial fact in

        11       issue.  So we say that the procedure of using the summary

        12       to give notice is not one which discharges the obligation

        13       in this case.

        14

        15            The problem can't be cured by notice by the Commission

        16       later, either, of what might be relied upon.  The reason

        17       for that is the different material in question.  In the

        18       VEAL case it was an allegation.  In this case it is

        19       evidence that bears upon the knowledge of the Commonwealth.

        20       We, of course, have not had any real opportunity to explore

        21       that material, and we say that whether or not we receive

        22       some notice by the Commission - by you, sir - of how it is

        23       that you intend to use this material, the Commission has a

        24       lot more than we have, and will continue to have a lot more

        25       than we have.  Such notice as we have been given will not

        26       suffice to discharge that obligation.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   What obligation?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   The obligation of natural justice, that the

        31       Commission should afford a party which the Commission

        32       wishes to rely upon material that bears upon a matter

        33       pertinent to the interests of that party.  We would say

        34       that, without question, the mind of the Commonwealth is a

        35       matter which AWB has a real interest in, as well as most of

        36       the individuals who are represented here, for reasons

        37       articulated by you, sir, in identifying a couple of

        38       breaches at least that may be open.

        39

        40            The other point that I made before lunch, which might

        41       not have been expressed as clearly as it might, was the

        42       alternate course that we said should have been adopted -

        43       I think I have said this once before - which would have

        44       been to make the application for immunity to the Federal

        45       Court.  I think you raised with me, well, how is the

        46       Federal Court going to deal with this?  If the application

        47       for immunity were raised before the Federal Court, it would
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         1       have to undertake a balancing exercise, and, in those

         2       circumstances, the Commission would be required to

         3       demonstrate, or the Commonwealth --

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   The Commonwealth would, not the

         6       Commission.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   The Commonwealth would be required to

         9       demonstrate, on an application of the Commonwealth, that in

        10       some way or another this material was going to have real

        11       utility in the conduct of the Commission in the discharge

        12       of the duties of this Commission under the terms of

        13       reference.  That in turn --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   That would be a most unfortunate

        16       thing --

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   It would be an extraordinary circumstance.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- if the Commonwealth had to go to the

        21       Federal Court to indicate what this Commission might or

        22       might not do with evidence.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Well, therein, of course, lies the

        25       problem.  There is the rub, sir.  The problem for the party

        26       wishing to make this claim on a notice to produce documents

        27       appropriately would be in the Federal Court, and the

        28       Federal Court, discharging its duty, would need to balance

        29       the interests of the Commonwealth considering the interests

        30       of the Royal Commission and the Commonwealth considering

        31       the interests of the security services.

        32

        33            Let's put the absurdity of that position to one side

        34       just for the moment.  In discharging that duty, the Federal

        35       Court would be obliged to take into account the use that

        36       might be made of it by the Commission of inquiry, and that

        37       would require the articulation of some basis upon which the

        38       evidence might have utility.

        39

        40            Now, if that process has not been adopted, for

        41       whatever reason - whether because it is perceived as being

        42       undesirable, whether it is considered appropriate to simply

        43       deliver the documents to this Commission and have this

        44       Commission make the inquiry into the exercise of discretion

        45       and the balancing that has to be done - the same process

        46       must be undertaken; in other words, what is the use to

        47       which this material might be put in order to discern
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         1       whether or not its secrecy ought to be protected?  But this

         2       Commission has an additional piece of information available

         3       to it, and that is the interests of the parties appearing

         4       before it, and the way in which the Commission has itself

         5       articulated the relevance of this issue in the past,

         6       namely, going to particular breaches of the law.

         7

         8            So, in our submission, the process to be undertaken by

         9       this Commission, if this course is to be adopted, which it

        10       has - that is, delivering the documents here and having

        11       this Commission make the decision - is one that necessarily

        12       involves in the balancing of interests to take into account

        13       not just the interests of the Commonwealth, as the

        14       representative of the security services, not just the

        15       interests of the Commission, as one appointed by the

        16       Commonwealth, but the interests of the parties, who have a

        17       real --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   The Commission has no interest at all.

        20       We have the judicial disinterest.

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   The Commission's interest, as I understand it,

        23       sir, has been articulated a number of times, and it is to

        24       gather information and make findings of fact.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Oh, yes, quite.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   That is, in our submission, one that --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   But that's not an interest, that's an

        31       activity.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   It is an activity, it is a function, it is a

        34       responsibility --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   But it is not an interest.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   Nevertheless, sir, there is an activity which

        39       the Commission has, if I can use your word, and that

        40       activity is one that must take into account the way in

        41       which this material might be used in order to assess the

        42       balancing of interests, apart from the activity of the

        43       Commission, but the interests before the Commission.  In

        44       our submission, that's a process which has not been

        45       undertaken, because the Commission will not, as it seems to

        46       us, articulate the way in which this material might be

        47       used, which we would say is a precondition to the exercise
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         1       of the discretion that you, sir, have exercised.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have been thinking about it over

         4       lunch.  I think we may have jumped ahead a little bit.  If

         5       the Commission issues a compulsory notice, the Commonwealth

         6       is obliged to respond to it.  It is then a matter for the

         7       Commonwealth, in the interests of the ONA and the security

         8       services, to claim public interest immunity, which it has

         9       done.  It has claimed it here, and I have made a decision.

        10       It might have gone to the Federal Court and claimed it

        11       there.  If the Federal Court had received that application

        12       and upheld it, then the documents would never be

        13       produced --

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   -- to this Commission, and the

        18       consequence of that would be that this Commission would

        19       have material which your client and others may have an

        20       interest in being exposed which would never be exposed -

        21       namely, material which may go to the knowledge of the

        22       Commonwealth.  And you would have been denied natural

        23       justice on any view.

        24

        25            The process that has been adopted here is to avoid

        26       that, so that you are not denied natural justice.  The

        27       interest of the Commonwealth is protected, but you are told

        28       the substance of what is in the documents.  That's a

        29       process which could never have been achieved had this

        30       matter gone to the Federal Court, and your clients would

        31       have had, I should have thought, a very justifiable claim

        32       for denial of natural justice.

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   That may be so, but --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, it is an absurd result.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   That may be seen as an absurd result.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Because it would mean that the very

        41       thing that your clients may wish to have established

        42       couldn't be established although the Commission knew it

        43       existed.

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   It doesn't, in our submission, detract from the

        46       problem created when the documents come to this Commission,

        47       and the problem created in the inability to explore that
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         1       issue with these witnesses.  If the matter were to go to

         2       the Federal Court and the Federal Court were to rule as you

         3       pose in the hypothetical situation, true it is that there

         4       may have been a real complaint by my clients about the fact

         5       that that issue wasn't explored.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   What issue wasn't explored?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   That is, the mind of the Commonwealth by that

        10       route - that is, the exploration of the security services.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   What you are telling me is that's

        13       precisely what should happen, and if it did you would then

        14       complain.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   It may be that the complaint would be made

        17       equally as a response to the Federal Court proceeding as it

        18       is here.  The complaint that is being made is that the

        19       information which the Commonwealth has is not forthcoming.

        20       That's the complaint - whether it is made as a consequence

        21       of the Federal Court proceeding or whether it is made as a

        22       consequence of what happens here.  The information which

        23       the Commonwealth has is not forthcoming, and that's our

        24       complaint.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am sorry, but it is forthcoming.

        27       That's precisely what the summary that counsel assisting

        28       has prepared produces.

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Well, we say that that is not adequate,

        31       and perhaps that's all I can say.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we have distributed the third

        34       and last statutory declaration.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I did not tender it this morning, as

        39       I understand.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I marked it as exhibit 594, I think.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.  I don't know if

        44       any of my learned friends has any further examination.

        45

        46       MR CARTER:   No, I have no further questions,

        47       Mr Commissioner.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Carter.  Mr Robertson?

         3

         4       MR ROBERTSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

         9

        10       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Lacava, at the end of his examination,

        13       asked you these questions and you gave these answers:

        14

        15            Q.  Has anyone phoned you or contacted you

        16            in the period of the last 12 months, or

        17            thereabouts, and asked you if you have a

        18            copy in your possession of the signed

        19            letter from Mr Stott of 30 October?

        20            A.   No.

        21

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.

        25            Q.   So DFAT has made no inquiries of you?

        26            A.   None whatsoever.

        27            Q.   Is that right?

        28            A.   None whatsoever.

        29

        30       A.   I didn't catch the last bit, sorry?

        31

        32       Q.   You didn't catch --

        33       A.   Just the last --

        34

        35       Q.

        36

        37            Q.   So DFAT has made no inquiries of you?

        38            A.   None whatsoever.

        39            Q.   Is that right?

        40            A.   None whatsoever.

        41

        42       Now, my question to you is this:  do you have a copy of the

        43       signed letter from Mr Stott of 30 October?

        44       A.   Mr Agius, I certainly do not have a copy.

        45

        46       Q.   Have you ever had a copy?

        47       A.   I have never had a copy.



            .20/3/06 (49)              4892     J E DRAKE-BROCKMAN (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any reason why

         5       Ms Drake-Brockman should not be excused?

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   No.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Ms Drake-Brockman.  You are

        10       excused, thank you.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        13

        14       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, when Mr Winneke was here

        17       I believe last Thursday, he asked me to tender portions of

        18       the 7 September 2005 report of the Independent Inquiry

        19       Committee.  We have copied those portions and barcoded

        20       them, and I now tender a volume containing those portions,

        21       being volume 2, chapter 3, and volume 3, chapter 4, of

        22       the September report.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #595 VOLUME 2, CHAPTER 3, AND VOLUME 3, CHAPTER 4,

        25       OF SEPTEMBER INDEPENDENT INQUIRY REPORT

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Mr Grenenger is the next witness and I call

        28       him.  Mr Wigney will take this witness.

        29

        30       <TONY GRENENGER, affirmed:                   [2.24pm]

        31

        32       <EXAMINATION BY MR WIGNEY:

        33

        34       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Mr Grenenger, might we have your full

        35       name, please?

        36       A.   Tony Grenenger.

        37

        38       Q.   You have, have you not, made two statutory

        39       declarations for the purposes of this inquiry?

        40       A.   That's correct.

        41

        42       Q.   I will just have them brought up so that you can

        43       identify them.  Could there be brought up, please,

        44       DFT.0013.0196.  Would you just have a look at that document

        45       that should be on your screen now.  Are you able to

        46       identify that as your first statutory declaration, signed

        47       by you and made on 20 January 2006?
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         1       A.   Yes.  That's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   Are the contents of that statutory declaration true

         4       and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

         5       A.   Yes, yes, they are.

         6

         7       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that statement.  It was previously a

         8       confidential exhibit, Commissioner.

         9

        10       EXHIBIT #596 FIRST STATUTORY DECLARATION OF TONY GRENENGER,

        11       DATED 20/1/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0196

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   I lift any confidentiality order.

        14

        15       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   Secondly, could there be brought up,

        16       please, DFT.0013.0202.  Do you identify that document that

        17       is on your screen as the first page of your second

        18       statutory declaration?

        19       A.   Yes, that's correct.  Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Could there then be brought up, please, DFT.0013.0208.

        22       Do you identify that as the last page of your statutory

        23       declaration, indicating that it was signed and made by you

        24       on 1 March 2006?

        25       A.   Yes, that's correct.

        26

        27       Q.   Can I just take you, firstly, before we tender that,

        28       to one paragraph that I understand you wish to clarify.

        29       Could page DFT.0013.0206 be brought up, please.  In

        30       paragraph 23 you refer to a list of DFAT officers that you

        31       readily recall contacting during your time in the Middle

        32       East section.  As I understand it, you wish to add to that

        33       list of people; is that correct?

        34       A.   Yes, if I may, yes.  I would just like to add that

        35       I would have briefly spoken to Mark Emons - I'm not sure of

        36       the pronunciation - of the Wheat Board; also possibly

        37       I would have spoken with George Atkin, who replaced Ms Jane

        38       Drake-Brockman; also his assistant, Deb Watson; and

        39       possibly Jill Courtney as well.

        40

        41       Q.   Subject to that clarification, are the contents of

        42       that second statutory declaration made by you true to the

        43       best of your knowledge and belief?

        44       A.   Yes, they are.

        45

        46       MR WIGNEY:   I tender that.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be exhibit 597 and I remove

         2       any confidentiality order in respect of it.

         3

         4       EXHIBIT #597 SECOND STATUTORY DECLARATION OF

         5       TONY GRENENGER, DATED 1/3/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0202

         6

         7       MR WIGNEY:   Can I also tender, please, the documents that

         8       are referred to in the statement that have been separately

         9       barcoded and served.  They commence at DFT.0013.0211 and

        10       continue up to DFT.0013.0224 inclusive.

        11

        12       EXHIBIT #598 DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN SECOND STATUTORY

        13       DECLARATION OF TONY GRENENGER BARCODED DFT.0013.0211-0224

        14

        15       MR WIGNEY:   Q.   I just want to ask you a few brief

        16       questions, please, about some of the matters in your

        17       statutory declaration.  Firstly, in your first statutory

        18       declaration - do you have a copy of it there?

        19       A.   Yes, I do.

        20

        21       Q.   It perhaps should be brought up on the screen in

        22       addition.  It is DFT.0013.0196.  You indicate, sir, that

        23       you commenced duties in the Middle East section of the

        24       Middle East and Africa branch of DFAT in about April 1999;

        25       correct?

        26       A.   That's correct, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   And you remained in that section until May 2001?

        29       A.   That's correct.

        30

        31       Q.   As we understand it, for some period of time your

        32       duties were concerned with Iran, rather than Iraq; is that

        33       right?

        34       A.   That's correct, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   I will come back to that particular matter in due

        37       course, but you describe your position as a desk officer

        38       subordinate to the executive officer, and that your duties

        39       and responsibilities were - using your words - limited and

        40       of a routine nature.  May we take it from that that you

        41       were one of the more junior officers in the section?

        42       A.   I believe I was the most junior officer in that

        43       section.

        44

        45       Q.   That was my next question - aside from perhaps

        46       secretarial staff, you were the most junior person there?

        47       A.   That's my recollection, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   You have referred to the fact that you were

         3       subordinate to the executive officer.  Was the executive

         4       officer, during at least part of your time in the section,

         5       Mr Don Cuddihy?

         6       A.   Yes; that's correct.

         7

         8       Q.   And you were subordinate to and reported to him; is

         9       that right?

        10       A.   That's correct.

        11

        12       Q.   Before Mr Cuddihy was the executive officer someone by

        13       the name of Gai Brodtmann?

        14       A.   That's correct, Gai.

        15

        16       Q.   And she performed Mr Cuddihy's duties before he came

        17       into the section; is that right?

        18       A.   That's correct.

        19

        20       Q.   Just dealing for the moment still with the structure

        21       and the reporting lines in the Middle East and Africa

        22       branch, during most of your time was the head of the Middle

        23       East and Africa branch Jane Drake-Brockman?

        24       A.   That's right, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   And I think you just indicated in answer to an earlier

        27       question that she was replaced by Mr George Atkin at some

        28       stage; is that right?

        29       A.   That's my recollection later, in the Middle East

        30       branch.

        31

        32       Q.   She headed up the Middle East and Africa branch, and

        33       her formal title was assistant secretary; is that right?

        34       A.   That's correct.

        35

        36       Q.   Underneath her, reporting to her, was Mr Bob Bowker,

        37       and he was head of the Middle East section; is that right?

        38       A.   That's right, he was the director.

        39

        40       Q.   And he was at director level?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       Q.   May we take it that there was also an Africa section,

        44       and there was a director in different reporting lines under

        45       the Africa section?

        46       A.   Correct, yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Was next in line the executive officer - Mr Cuddihy,

         2       or Gai Brodtmann?

         3       A.   That's correct, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Then there was you reporting to the executive officer;

         6       is that right?

         7       A.   That's correct, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   At least during your time in the section, was that

        10       largely the staff in the section?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   You mentioned earlier Ms Jill Courtney.  She was

        14       attached or engaged in that section for some period of time

        15       when you were there, was she?

        16       A.   I recall her being there, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you have any formal reporting to her?

        19       A.   Not that I can recall.

        20

        21       Q.   I will come back to her shortly, but I think I have

        22       taken you, or you have taken us, to paragraph 23 of your

        23       second statutory declaration at DFT.0013.0206 as including

        24       the list of persons in DFAT with whom you had some

        25       communications during your time in the section?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   We dealt with the first of those officers - that's

        29       Jane Drake-Brockman - Robert Bowker, Gai Brodtmann and

        30       Don Cuddihy.  Bronte Moules was at the Australian Mission

        31       to the United Nations in New York, was she not?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   You had some contact with her?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   I will come to some specific examples shortly.  The

        38       other two people that you mentioned in that paragraph are

        39       Ian Russell and Simon Twisk.  They were officers with the

        40       Australian embassy to Jordan in Amman; is that right?

        41       A.   That's correct, yes.

        42

        43       Q.   I think in your statutory declaration, your second

        44       statutory declaration, you give some examples of the sorts

        45       of communications you had with those two officers?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   My question is would it be fair to say that your

         2       communications with them, having regard to your position,

         3       tended to be low-level communications, routine

         4       communications; is that so?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   The particular example you give was some

         8       communications concerning the donation of laboratory

         9       equipment by AWB to Iraq; is that right?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And is that the sort of communication - routine or

        13       formal communication - that you had with them?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   In the course of those communications did you come to

        17       have some knowledge of the Oil-for-Food Program and the

        18       sanctions with Iraq?

        19       A.   Well, not only, but yes.

        20

        21       Q.   I am sorry?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You mentioned earlier Jill Courtney.  Are you able to

        25       recall any significant communications that you had with her

        26       during your time in the section?

        27       A.   No, I can't at all.  No.

        28

        29       Q.   She was certainly senior to you - she was at director

        30       level, was she not?

        31       A.   She was certainly more senior.  I don't recall exactly

        32       what level she was at that time.

        33

        34       Q.   Before we move on to some of your specific duties and

        35       responsibilities, can I just deal with one matter that you

        36       raise in the second paragraph of your first statutory

        37       declaration - that is, that you say in that paragraph that

        38       at some time in early to mid 2000 your responsibility for

        39       Iraq issues ceased and you concentrated on issues relating

        40       to Iran.  I just want to take up with you and see if we can

        41       be more precise about that time, if possible.  The inquiry

        42       has seen some documents - and I will bring one up in a

        43       moment - that apparently were signed by you that suggest

        44       that you were performing Iraq-related duties as late

        45       as July 2000, and perhaps if we bring up, please, document

        46       AWB.0059.0443.  You will see that that is a fax - is that

        47       signed by you, that particular fax?



            .20/3/06 (49)              4898     T GRENENGER (Mr Wigney)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   Could we scroll down?  Yes, that's my signature.

         2

         3       Q.   That's dated 12 July 2000?

         4       A.   That's correct.

         5

         6       Q.   That suggests, does it not, that you were in fact

         7       still performing Iraq duties as late as at least July of

         8       2000?

         9       A.   That would be consistent with my memory and the

        10       statement of "mid".  I will stress that I am not exactly

        11       sure of that date.

        12

        13       Q.   At some stage - you say at about that time - you

        14       ceased duties with Iraq and went over and dealt with some

        15       duties in relation to Iran; is that right?

        16       A.   That's correct, yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you come back at some stage and again perform some

        19       duties in relation to Iraq?

        20       A.   It is conceivable that I continued with the permission

        21       to export certificates.  I don't recall whether I did or

        22       did not, but it is conceivable that I did.

        23

        24       Q.   I don't particularly want to engage in a memory test

        25       exercise with you.  Perhaps if I just show you this

        26       document.  It is at AWB.0061.0292, if that could be brought

        27       up, please.  You will see that, again, is a fax apparently

        28       from you to Mr Lister at AWB saying "As per usual.  Best

        29       regards, Tony"?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Mr Lister - and we will come to this in a moment - was

        33       the person you dealt with at AWB in relation to the

        34       permissions to export; is that right?

        35       A.   That is quite correct, yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Could there be brought up on the screen AWB.0061.0305.

        38       You will see again that that is a facsimile from you to

        39       Mr Lister at AWB.  In this case you say:

        40

        41            I'm back in the office.  Grateful if you

        42            could mark future Notifications care of me.

        43

        44       It is dated 8 January 2001?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Does that refresh your recollection that at some stage
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         1       you --

         2       A.   Not strongly.  If you scroll back down, you will

         3       notice that my title there is actually "desk officer Iran",

         4       rather than "desk officer Iran/Iraq".  As I mentioned

         5       earlier, it is possible - and this would bear that

         6       out - that I was continuing with the export certificates.

         7       They were very routine, I had some knowledge of how to do

         8       them.  So it is conceivable that they were just still sent

         9       to me, perhaps just by name.  I honestly don't particularly

        10       recall, but substantively, I did not do Iraq issues at that

        11       time.

        12

        13       Q.   So would this be a fair summary of your position:

        14       you, at least from July onwards, primarily performed duties

        15       in relation to Iran; however, you continued to perform

        16       duties specifically referable to permissions to export,

        17       because that was a fairly routine matter - is that so?

        18       A.   That would seem to be correct.

        19

        20       Q.   Could I then just take you through some of the duties

        21       and responsibilities you refer to in your statutory

        22       declarations that you undertook in relation to the

        23       Oil-for-Food Program.  Perhaps the shortest way to do this

        24       is if I perhaps summarise the duties and responsibilities,

        25       and I will come back and ask you some specific questions

        26       about each of them.

        27       A.   Mmm.  Sure.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you firstly have some involvement in dispatching

        30       documentation to the United Nations 661 committee via

        31       DFAT's Mission in New York?

        32       A.   Yes; that's correct.

        33

        34       Q.   I will come back and ask you one or two questions

        35       about that in a moment.  Secondly, were you involved in

        36       receiving back from DFAT's New York Mission approvals to

        37       export given by the 661 committee?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Thirdly, were you involved in preparing permission to

        41       export certificates for signature by senior DFAT officers

        42       who had the appropriate delegations.

        43       A.   Yes; that's correct.

        44

        45       Q.   Fourthly, were you involved, to an extent, in

        46       receiving and answering inquiries from the public about the

        47       Oil-for-Food Program?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   They are four duties and responsibilities, and I will

         4       ask you a couple of questions about each of them, but were

         5       there any other duties and responsibilities that don't fit

         6       within those four categories?

         7       A.   Not from recollection.  That is what I recall.

         8

         9       Q.   I just want to ask you firstly about your

        10       responsibilities and duties insofar as they involved

        11       dispatching documents to the United Nations via the

        12       Australian Mission, but before I ask you that question, can

        13       I ask you this:  when you started in the section did you

        14       receive any instructions or guidelines about the duties and

        15       responsibilities that you were to have and how you were to

        16       carry them out?

        17       A.   I don't recall any specific, but there would have been

        18       an initial period of training, for want of a better

        19       expression.  I assume there would have been some sort of

        20       instruction on "This is how you need to do it".

        21

        22       Q.   Well, we are not in the position where we are

        23       interested in assumptions on your behalf.  Do you have any

        24       recollection of any actual training?

        25       A.   No, I don't have any recollection.

        26

        27       Q.   Was the executive officer when you first commenced

        28       duties in the section Gai Brodtmann?

        29       A.   Yes; that's correct.

        30

        31       Q.   And are you able to recall whether she gave you any

        32       instructions as to what tasks you were to perform in

        33       relation to the Oil-for-Food Program?

        34       A.   I don't recall specifically.

        35

        36       Q.   Again, at risk of being pedantic, are you able to

        37       recall whether you were given or shown any particular

        38       document that set out the duties and responsibilities that

        39       you were to perform?

        40       A.   I certainly don't recall that, no.

        41

        42       Q.   Do you recall being given any training or information

        43       about DFAT's role in relation to the Oil-for-Food Program?

        44       A.   I don't recall such, no.

        45

        46       Q.   Just while we are on that topic, and before I ask you

        47       some more specific questions, at some stage Ms Brodtmann
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         1       left as the executive officer and Mr Cuddihy took her

         2       position; is that right?

         3       A.   That's correct, yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Are you able to recall whether when Mr Cuddihy joined

         6       the section as the executive officer you gave him any

         7       instructions or directions as to what he was to do?

         8       A.   No, sorry, I don't.

         9

        10       Q.   If I can then just turn to the first of the duties and

        11       responsibilities that we have identified, and that is the

        12       dispatching of documents to the United Nations via the

        13       Australian Mission.  May we take it from what you have

        14       stated in your statutory declaration that your memory of

        15       what precisely you did in relation to that task is very

        16       poor?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Can I just attempt to jog your memory by showing you

        20       some documents?

        21       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        22

        23       Q.   Firstly, could I have brought up on the screen,

        24       please, a document that is within one of the approvals

        25       folders that has been tendered.  It is at AWB.0059.0559.

        26       You will see that that is a document that is said to be a

        27       notification or request to ship goods to Iraq.  Are you

        28       able to identify that as one of the sorts of documents that

        29       you were involved in transmitting to the United Nations via

        30       DFAT's Mission in New York?

        31       A.   The document looks familiar.  I don't have any

        32       recollection of what I might have done with it.

        33

        34       Q.   Are you able to recall whether the documents that you

        35       transmitted to the Australian Mission, with the

        36       understanding that it was then to be sent on to the United

        37       Nations, included contractual documents or contracts?

        38       A.   My recollection of what I sent to the UN - our office

        39       in the UN was the request for permission to export from the

        40       AWB, which included only the contract numbers, and may have

        41       included tonnage, I don't know, but the very, very basic

        42       detail.

        43

        44       Q.   I think you refer in your statutory declaration to a

        45       request to export.  My question is whether that document

        46       that's on the screen, the notification, is that request?

        47       A.   No.
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         1

         2       Q.   Or an example of it?

         3       A.   No.  No.

         4

         5       Q.   The documents that you did transmit overseas, did you

         6       have any role or duty or responsibility in checking the

         7       details against any other information that you had?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   You don't recall looking at the contracts and

        11       considering the terms of the contracts?

        12       A.   Certainly not.

        13

        14       Q.   Are you aware whether any of the other more senior

        15       officers in the section were involved in that exercise?

        16       A.   I'm not aware of that at all.

        17

        18       Q.   In paragraph 10 of your second statutory declaration -

        19       if that might perhaps be brought up; it is at

        20       DFT.0013.0203 - you refer again to the fact - this is in

        21       the second sentence - that your role in relation to the

        22       Oil-for-Food Program was limited and was of a routine

        23       nature, and then you say:

        24

        25            ...which could be described as a 'Post-box'

        26            between AWB and UNNY.

        27

        28       That's the Australian Mission?

        29       A.   That's correct.

        30

        31       Q.   By that you mean that, insofar as your duties involved

        32       transmitting documents to the United Nations via the

        33       Mission, you simply received the documents and sent them on

        34       without any input by yourself?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   If I can then just deal briefly with the second of the

        38       duties and responsibilities that we identified earlier -

        39       that is, your receiving of approvals back from the 661

        40       committee via the Australian Mission - and perhaps if we

        41       again just take an example.  Could there be brought up,

        42       please, document AWB.0059.0528.  I think you have referred

        43       to receiving approvals back from the committee.  Is that an

        44       example of the approvals that you received back?

        45       A.   Yes, that is.

        46

        47       Q.   What did you do with the approvals once you received
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         1       them back from the Australian Mission to New York?

         2       A.   I, from that, would compare that with the details that

         3       the AWB had sent up - the contract numbers - make sure that

         4       the approval was for the correct contract.  I then prepared

         5       the permission to export certificate for signing by a more

         6       senior officer.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you send a copy of that approval document to AWB?

         9       A.   Not that document, no.

        10

        11       Q.   You have just, I think, moved on to what you identify

        12       as your third area of responsibility, and that was drafting

        13       or creating the permission to export documents?

        14       A.   That's correct.

        15

        16       Q.   Was not this the situation, that prior to you

        17       commencing to do that you would receive what you have

        18       referred to in your statutory declaration as a pro forma

        19       fax from AWB?

        20       A.   The pro forma fax --

        21

        22       Q.   Yes.

        23       A.   -- was, from recollection, what actually started the

        24       process for me off.  I would have received that first, and

        25       I understand that's what I would have sent to the UN.  Then

        26       the UN - this document came back, and then I prepared the

        27       permission to export certificate.

        28

        29       Q.   I just want to identify what you have referred to as a

        30       pro forma fax from the AWB.  Could there be brought up,

        31       please, AWB.0059.0465.  Is that an example of one of the

        32       documents that you referred to as a pro forma fax?

        33       A.   Yes, it is, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   By using the words "pro forma" you simply mean that

        36       the faxes were almost always in similar form to this?

        37       A.   Quite correct, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Containing the same sorts of details?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Can you tell us again, please, what you would do once

        43       you received one of these facsimiles?

        44       A.   From recollection, that's what I would send to our

        45       office in New York.

        46

        47       Q.   I think it is fair to say - and this may perhaps



            .20/3/06 (49)              4904     T GRENENGER (Mr Wigney)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       indicate your vague memory of such things - that the

         2       information available to the inquiry is that the sequence

         3       of events is that the contract would be approved by the

         4       United Nations and you would receive back the contract

         5       approval, which I showed you --

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   -- firstly; correct?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   The next step would be when you received this

        12       pro forma facsimile from AWB requesting the permission to

        13       export, that would occur --

        14       A.   No, my recollection is the other way around.

        15

        16       Q.   I see.  When you received this document, aside from,

        17       you say, sending it off to the United Nations, would you

        18       also draft a permission to export certificate, I think as

        19       you refer to it in your statements?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Again, we might just bring up an example of such a

        23       document.  I just want to ask you some questions as to what

        24       you did with it.  Just bear with me for one moment, please.

        25       Could there be brought up, please, document AWB.0059.0434.

        26       Is that what you refer to in your statutory declaration as

        27       the permission to export certificate?

        28       A.   Yes, it is.

        29

        30       Q.   Would you get the details from the pro forma fax that

        31       you received from AWB inserted into what was essentially a

        32       template document; is that right?

        33       A.   That's correct, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And, as I understand your evidence, you would then

        36       present it to a more senior officer at DFAT for signature?

        37       A.   Yes - well, I would check that the details here

        38       matched also the approval notice that came in from the UN

        39       and the contract, but, yes, then it would be passed on to a

        40       more senior officer for signing.

        41

        42       Q.   As I understand your evidence it is that the approval

        43       would be in relation to a contract, and there would often

        44       be a number of shipments that would make up --

        45       A.   That's correct.

        46

        47       Q.   -- the wheat in that contract; is that right?
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         1       A.   That's correct, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Now, the inquiry has heard some evidence in relation

         4       to that issue and the keeping of a spreadsheet or an Excel

         5       spreadsheet to tally up the shipments with the contract

         6       approvals.  Is that something that you were involved in?

         7       A.   I do recall keeping a tally, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you cause to be created a spreadsheet on a

        10       computer at all?

        11       A.   I frankly don't recall.

        12

        13       Q.   When you prepared this document, having checked that

        14       the shipment was within an approved contract, you presented

        15       it to a senior officer, being either Mr Bowker or Ms Jane

        16       Drake-Brockman at the time you were there; is that right?

        17       A.   That's correct, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   When you presented the document to them for signature,

        20       did you give them any other documentation?

        21       A.   I don't recall.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you give them, for example, a copy of the United

        24       Nations approval or the spreadsheet or any other analysis?

        25       A.   I simply don't recall.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you recall whether you prepared a memo or a minute

        28       or any other note to them indicating that the shipment

        29       referred to in the certificate was within an approved

        30       contract?

        31       A.   I don't recall that.

        32

        33       Q.   Could I just take you to some passages in your second

        34       statutory declaration again.  Could there be brought up the

        35       first page of that statutory declaration at DFT.0013.0202.

        36       At paragraph 3 in the first sentence you state:

        37

        38            In response to paragraph (a) of Appendix A,

        39            I recall that DFAT's role in approving

        40            contracts under the Oil-For-Food-Programme

        41            ("OFFP") was limited to liaising with the

        42            United Nations 661 Commission...

        43

        44       Perhaps "661 committee"?

        45       A.   That's my oversight.

        46

        47       Q.   And then if you could have a look at the first
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         1       sentence of paragraph 4:

         2

         3            The Department did not approve Australian

         4            Wheat Board Ltd ("AWB") contracts to export

         5            wheat to Iraq.

         6

         7       Can I ask you, please, what is the basis for your knowledge

         8       or belief that you set out in those two sentences in

         9       paragraphs 3 and 4?

        10       A.   It was the UN that would approve the export of wheat

        11       to Iraq, not DFAT.

        12

        13       Q.   What was the basis of your knowledge or belief in that

        14       regard?

        15       A.   Just the process that I went through to get those

        16       permission to export certificates to a point where they

        17       could be signed.

        18

        19       Q.   I see.  Is that something that you were told or that

        20       you read when you were in the section?

        21       A.   I don't recall.

        22

        23       Q.   You are just basing that statement on the fairly

        24       limited and routine nature of the activities that you

        25       performed; right?

        26       A.   That's correct.

        27

        28       Q.   That is, the fact that you were a post box sending

        29       documents to the United Nations via the Australian Mission;

        30       is that right?

        31       A.   That's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Receiving them back and creating the permission to

        34       export certificate based on the approval of the UN; is that

        35       right?

        36       A.   That's correct.

        37

        38       Q.   When you were in the section, did you have cause to

        39       look at the DFAT web site in relation to DFAT's roles and

        40       responsibilities under the Oil-for-Food Program?

        41       A.   I recall looking at a web site.  I don't recall

        42       whether it was DFAT's web site or the UN's web site.

        43

        44       MR WIGNEY:   I should indicate, Commissioner, before we

        45       move on, I have shown the witness a number of example

        46       documents.  They are all within the approvals folder that

        47       is already in evidence and I don't propose to separately
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         1       tender those documents.

         2

         3       Q.   Perhaps I can endeavour to jog your recollection

         4       somewhat in relation to DFAT's web site by bringing up a

         5       document RRP.0001.0048.  This is part of exhibit 49.

         6       Perhaps, to be fair, I ought give you a copy of it so it is

         7       easy for you to peruse.  Just take a moment to look at it

         8       and see if you are able to recognise that as DFAT's web

         9       site that was in existence at least during part of your

        10       time in the Middle East section.

        11       A.   Yes, I have to say now looking at this, this does look

        12       familiar.

        13

        14       Q.   I am sorry?

        15       A.   Now that I have looked at this, this does look

        16       familiar.

        17

        18       Q.   Right.  Now, I have just asked you some questions in

        19       relation to some of your duties and responsibilities

        20       insofar as they related to transmitting documents to the

        21       Mission and on to the United Nations and preparing the

        22       permission to export documents.  In understanding the role

        23       that you played in that, were you guided by the contents of

        24       this web page?

        25       A.   I haven't read all of it.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, I can take you to some particular passages in

        28       it.  Perhaps we could go to page 8 of 15 - you will see it

        29       is numbered in the top right-hand corner - it is

        30       RRP.0001.0055.  You will see towards the bottom of the

        31       page there is a subheading --

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   -- "Outline of the process required to export to Iraq

        35       under UNSCRs 986/1330".  Could you just take a moment to

        36       have a look at the dot points that are under that

        37       subheading over on to the next page, being page 9 of 15.

        38       A.   Yes, that - yes, that looks familiar.

        39

        40       Q.   I just want to direct your attention to the

        41       paragraph that is after the last of the dot points that

        42       reads:

        43

        44            DFAT once satisfied that the form has been

        45            properly completed and that the transaction

        46            does not appear to infringe the UN

        47            sanctions regime will submit the form and



            .20/3/06 (49)              4908     T GRENENGER (Mr Wigney)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            documentation to the UN Sanctions Committee

         2            in New York.

         3

         4       And then it goes on to refer to what would occur in the

         5       United Nations; do you see that?

         6       A.   Yes.  Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Now, I have asked you some questions and you have

         9       given some evidence in relation to the transmission of the

        10       documents to the United Nations?

        11       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        12

        13       Q.   My question is whether, when you forwarded the

        14       documents on, or were involved in forwarding the documents

        15       on, to the United Nations via the Mission you perused the

        16       documents to ascertain whether they appeared to infringe

        17       the UN sanctions.  Did you perform that exercise?

        18       A.   No, I don't specifically recall.

        19

        20       Q.   You have no recollection at all of perusing the

        21       documents to ascertain that?

        22       A.   No recollection.

        23

        24       Q.   That document may now be taken down.  Can I just deal

        25       briefly with the fourth of the duties and responsibilities

        26       that we earlier identified, and that is that you, on

        27       occasion, received and responded to inquiries from members

        28       of the public in relation to the Oil-for-Food Program.

        29       That was one of your duties?

        30       A.   Yes, that's right, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   May we take it again from your position as the most

        33       junior officer in the section that the inquiries that you

        34       fielded and answered yourself were mainly of a fairly

        35       routine or low-level nature?

        36       A.   Yes, absolutely.

        37

        38       Q.   They were the sorts of queries that were able to be

        39       answered from the information that was on the DFAT web

        40       site; is that right?

        41       A.   Oh, yes, or the UN web site itself.

        42

        43       Q.   What would you do if a query was raised with you that

        44       involved something more technical - that is, a question

        45       perhaps about the interpretation of the relevant United

        46       Nations resolutions, security council resolutions, or

        47       technical aspects of the operation of the Oil-for-Food
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         1       Program?  What would you do in those circumstances?

         2       A.   I would have asked one of the more senior officers.

         3

         4       Q.   And that was firstly either Mr Cuddihy or

         5       Ms Brodtmann, who were your immediate superiors?

         6       A.   Well, not conjointly - Ms Brodtmann was before

         7       Mr Cuddihy - but, yes, he was my superior.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you ever involved in directing such inquiries or

        10       raising queries in relation to the operation of the

        11       Oil-for-Food Program with the legal branch of DFAT?

        12       A.   I don't recall ever talking about those things.

        13

        14       Q.   Are you able to recall whether you were ever involved

        15       in drafting replies, written replies, to any queries that

        16       were for signature by more senior officers?

        17       A.   Not that I recall.

        18

        19       Q.   You indicate in your statutory declaration that you

        20       did have irregular communications with officers of AWB; is

        21       that right?

        22       A.   That's correct.

        23

        24       Q.   Can you tell us again, please, who were the officers

        25       with whom you primarily communicated?

        26       A.   Mr Rex Lister and Darryl Borlase.

        27

        28       Q.   And may we take it that the communications that you

        29       had with them were in relation to the sorts of routine

        30       matters concerning permissions to export and approvals?

        31       A.   That's correct.

        32

        33       Q.   Rather than the technical operation of the

        34       Oil-for-Food Program?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   Do you ever recall engaging in any discussions with

        38       either of those officers of AWB, or, indeed, any officers

        39       of AWB, concerning the engagement by AWB of Jordanian

        40       trucking companies?

        41       A.   Absolutely not.

        42

        43       Q.   Do you ever recall engaging in any communications or

        44       discussions with officers of AWB concerning payments made

        45       to Jordanian trucking companies or --

        46       A.   Absolutely not, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   -- Jordanian bank accounts?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   Just along the same lines, are you able to recall

         5       during your time in the Middle East section learning or

         6       knowing about a company called Alia, A-L-I-A?

         7       A.   No, no, I am sorry.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you ever have any communications with anyone from

        10       AWB about a company called Alia?

        11       A.   Certainly not.

        12

        13       Q.   In your first statutory declaration, in paragraph 4,

        14       you indicate that you have been shown two particular

        15       documents - I will bring them up on the screen again.  They

        16       are firstly at DFT.0001.0011.  You will see that that's the

        17       first page of a fax that is directed to Jill Courtney from

        18       AWB, Charles Stott.  Could we go over the page, please, to

        19       0012.  Now, I take it that, in preparing your statutory

        20       declaration and in preparing for giving evidence today, you

        21       looked at these documents again?

        22       A.   That's correct.

        23

        24       Q.   Could we then go over to the next page, 0013.  That is

        25       a letter signed apparently by Jane Drake-Brockman of

        26       2 November 2000.  Prior to you preparing to give evidence

        27       in these proceedings and preparing your statutory

        28       declarations had you ever seen any of those documents

        29       before?

        30       A.   No.  No, I hadn't.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you have any involvement whatsoever in receiving

        33       or drafting a reply to the first of those documents?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       MR WIGNEY:   Those documents are exhibit 582.

        37

        38       Q.   You will have seen that those documents were dated in

        39       late October and early November 2000 respectively.

        40       A.   Mmm.

        41

        42       Q.   That was the time that you were primarily involved

        43       with issues relating to Iran; is that right?

        44       A.   That's correct.

        45

        46       Q.   Are you able to recall ever drafting a letter for

        47       signature by Ms Drake-Brockman?
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         1       A.   I have no recollections.

         2

         3       Q.   Mr Grenenger, as a fairly low-level officer, as

         4       I think you have agreed you were at the time --

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   -- did you ever --

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think "junior level" is a better

        10       expression.

        11

        12       MR WIGNEY:   Junior level officer.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you ever have distributed to you documents

        15       prepared by any agencies within the Australian intelligence

        16       community?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   I will, nonetheless, show you a folder of documents,

        20       if you will just bear with me for one moment.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does this witness have the appropriate

        23       clearances?

        24

        25       MR WIGNEY:   As I understand it.

        26

        27       Q.   Mr Grenenger, as I understand it in fairly recent

        28       times, for the purposes of you preparing to give evidence

        29       before this inquiry, you have been shown this folder of

        30       documents; is that right?

        31       A.   That's correct, yes.

        32

        33       Q.   And you have taken the time to consider the contents

        34       of the documents within it; is that right?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   In answering the questions that I am about to ask you,

        38       you understand that you are obliged not to reveal the

        39       source of any of those documents, or the source of the

        40       information in the documents, or, indeed, any information

        41       contained in those documents; do you understand that?

        42       A.   Yes, I do.

        43

        44       Q.   Feel free again, if you need to, to have reference to

        45       the documents, but are you able to say whether, prior to

        46       the time that you were asked to consider these documents

        47       for the purpose of preparing to give evidence, you had seen
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         1       any of these documents before?

         2       A.   I have seen none of those documents before.

         3

         4       Q.   Are you able to say whether, before the time that you

         5       looked at the documents when you were preparing to give

         6       evidence in these proceedings, you were aware of the

         7       content of or the substance of the information contained in

         8       any of those documents?

         9       A.   No, I was not aware of the content or the substance of

        10       any of those documents.

        11

        12       MR WIGNEY:   Thank you.  That folder might be returned,

        13       please.  That's the examination of Mr Grenenger,

        14       Commissioner.

        15

        16       MR ROBERTSON:   I have no questions, thank you,

        17       Mr Commissioner.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Very briefly, if I may.

        22

        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   Q.   Mr Grenenger, I appear on behalf of AWB and

        26       AWBI.  Could the witness be shown exhibit 586, volume 1 of

        27       the approvals, please.  Perhaps a hard copy would be

        28       desirable.  I just want to ask you to clarify, if you

        29       would, Mr Grenenger, the order of things that occurred

        30       leading up to the permission to export.  Some of the

        31       documents here appear to be either directed to or from you.

        32       Could you look at the tabs, and I will take you to

        33       tab 4822, which you will see about halfway through that

        34       volume?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   There is a bundle of documents if you go to the very

        38       end of that bundle - start from the back and move forward.

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   There you should have a permission to export signed by

        42       Mr Bowker.

        43       A.   That's correct.

        44

        45       Q.   That is of 11 April 2000.

        46       A.   That's correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   That's AWB.0059.0492.  The next document in should be

         2       another permission to export; is that right?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Then the next is a facsimile cover sheet from you to

         6       Mr Lister dated 11 April 2004?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   The next document back is a facsimile from Mr Lister

        10       to you dated 11 April 2000?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   That is AWB.0059.0494.  This is the document that you

        14       described as the pro forma fax, I think, in your evidence?

        15       A.   That's correct, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you see that that fax has, towards the end, a

        18       contract number and a buyer reference number?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Those numbers meant something to you when you received

        22       this document, did they?

        23       A.   Not beyond the fact that that was a contract number

        24       and a buyer reference number.

        25

        26       Q.   You were involved, weren't you, in the early

        27       processing of some of the contracts - that is, the receipt

        28       of them and the onsending to New York for approval?

        29       A.   Not the contracts, no.

        30

        31       Q.   Not the contracts themselves?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   Were you aware of contracts or copy contracts kept

        35       within your branch in files?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   So by what means would you verify or process the

        39       application for a permission to export, having received

        40       this fax dated 11 April 2000, for example?

        41       A.   Sure.  My recollection was that I would fax that to

        42       our office in New York, they would then pass that on to the

        43       committee - the 661 committee.  We would then get the

        44       approval notice back, faxed to me via the UN office.

        45       I would then prepare the permission to export certificate.

        46

        47       Q.   Can I just take you back.  If you have that document
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         1       of 11 April 2000 in front of you, do you see that there are

         2       some numbers under "buyer reference"?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you recognise any of those numbers as being numbers

         6       attributed to the contract by the United Nations?

         7       A.   No, not particularly.

         8

         9       Q.   You see, I want to suggest to you that you are

        10       mistaken in the sequence, Mr Grenenger, and that what had

        11       occurred is that at some point earlier in time you would

        12       have received the UN contract approval, which you would

        13       have in your office or branch, in advance of the receipt of

        14       this fax.  If you go back half a dozen documents, you will

        15       come upon a contract approval - AWB.0058.0061, dated

        16       22 November 1999.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Have you got that?

        20       A.   Yes, I have it.

        21

        22       Q.   You will see there there is a series of numbers,

        23       including a Comm number, 600744?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   If you turn forward in that bundle I think three

        27       documents, you will find one dated 8 March, a fax from

        28       Mr Lister to you?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   You will see a Comm number there, OC600744?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Which seems to correspond with the earlier approval.

        35       A.   Yes, it does.

        36

        37       Q.   That would suggest, wouldn't it, that the sequence is

        38       you first have the approval?

        39       A.   My recollection would be, from where I started in the

        40       process, I would receive the fax a copy of which is 8 March

        41       2000.  Then I would receive this other document.

        42

        43       Q.   And, having received that approval from the UN, you

        44       would not yourself make any reference or seek to make any

        45       reference to the contract itself?

        46       A.   Only then in the permission to export certificate

        47       I would actually record that number.
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         1

         2       Q.   But you would not seek to look at the contract?

         3       A.   Certainly not.

         4

         5       Q.   Can I ask you about one more, just very briefly.  It

         6       is in this bundle.  Could I take you to the tab - I can ask

         7       you this generally:  do you recall issuing or preparing a

         8       permission to export document to be signed by Mr Bowker or

         9       some other person in response to receipt of a contract

        10       approval document from the United Nations that related to

        11       an authorisation given to the Russian Mission?

        12       A.   No.

        13

        14       Q.   Had you received such an approval in response to an

        15       application from AWB for a permission to export seeking

        16       DFAT's approval to export against an approval given by the

        17       United Nations to the Russian Mission, would you have

        18       actioned that in the same way?

        19       A.   I would have asked my immediate supervisor about it.

        20

        21       Q.   And who was that?

        22       A.   Don Cuddihy.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   I have no further questions, thank you.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Forrest?

        27

        28       MR FORREST:   Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        29

        30       <EXAMINATION BY MR FORREST:

        31

        32       MR FORREST:   Q.   Just on that last matter, Mr Grenenger,

        33       Mr Cuddihy became your superior from around

        34       January/February 2000?

        35       A.   I don't recall the exact date.

        36

        37       Q.   Okay.  That's what he tells us; you don't doubt that?

        38       A.   I have no reason to.

        39

        40       Q.   If that's the date that he did become your superior,

        41       by that stage you would have worked in the Middle East

        42       Africa branch on Iraq matters for about 10 months?

        43       A.   From April 1999.

        44

        45       Q.   Yes.  In that nine or 10 months you can't recall any

        46       training of a formal nature given about the contract

        47       approval process?
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         1       A.   That's correct.

         2

         3       Q.   You can't recall any documentation to do with the same

         4       sorts of things?

         5       A.   That's correct.

         6

         7       Q.   You had no broader training that you can recall as to

         8       the Oil-for-Food Program?

         9       A.   That's right - as I recall.

        10

        11       Q.   And what you did was to sort of pick up what was

        12       necessary to do your job on the job?

        13       A.   Broadly, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Do I understand your evidence a little earlier to be

        16       that you haven't seen a single wheat contract?

        17       A.   I don't believe I have ever seen a wheat contract.

        18

        19       Q.   Mr Cuddihy told us that as to the detailed operation

        20       of the Oil-for-Food Program he picked it up from you.

        21       I don't mean any disrespect by this, but there wouldn't

        22       have been much to pick up, would there?

        23       A.   I really don't recall.

        24

        25       Q.   If he was your immediate contact if you had a

        26       difficulty, do you recall him being particularly helpful in

        27       that regard?

        28       A.   I found Mr Cuddihy to always be helpful.

        29

        30       Q.   Did you give him instructions as to how to do his job?

        31       A.   I don't recall.

        32

        33       Q.   You certainly wouldn't have passed on to him any

        34       statements as to what you understood DFAT's legal

        35       responsibilities were in respect of the export approval

        36       process?

        37       A.   No, certainly not, no.

        38

        39       Q.   If he were to attain that knowledge, it would have to

        40       come from someone other than you?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       MR FORREST:   Thank you.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Any re-examination, Mr Wigney?

        46

        47       MR WIGNEY:   No, thank you, Commissioner.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any reason why Mr Grenenger

         3       shouldn't be excused?

         4

         5       MR WIGNEY:   He certainly won't need to be recalled,

         6       Commissioner.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Grenenger, you are

         9       excused.

        10

        11       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   I call Zena Armstrong, Mr Commissioner.  I'm

        14       afraid there will be just a short delay.  I wonder if I

        15       could ask the Commission to retire for a few minutes.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Let me know when you are ready.

        18

        19       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        20

        21       <ZENA JUDY ARMSTRONG, affirmed:              [3.34pm]

        22

        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might we have your full name, please?

        26       A.   Zena Judy Armstrong.

        27

        28       Q.   And you appear here today in answer to a notice

        29       requiring your attendance?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   We have some documents from you, and which relate to

        33       you, Ms Armstrong.  I wonder if we could deal with them in

        34       date order.  The first is what is said to be a summary of

        35       an interview that you had with investigators from the IIC

        36       on 25 February 2005.  Could we bring up, please,

        37       DFT.0001.0345.  Have you had an opportunity to read through

        38       that summary?

        39       A.   Yes, I have.

        40

        41       Q.   What do you say about its accuracy, in terms of its

        42       substance?

        43       A.   Yes, I think it is generally accurate.

        44

        45       Q.   May we take it that during the course of your

        46       interview with the IIC investigators you were telling the

        47       truth to the best of your knowledge and belief?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that summary.

         4

         5       EXHIBIT #599 SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW BETWEEN IIC INVESTIGATORS

         6       AND MS ZENA ARMSTRONG ON 25/2/2005, BARCODED DFT.0001.0345

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have a statutory declaration from you,

         9       which I will call your first statutory declaration, of

        10       2 February 2006.  Could we bring up, please, DFT.0013.0003.

        11       That's the first page of it.  If we could go to 0007, do

        12       you see there your signature?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Are the contents of that statutory declaration true

        16       and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       EXHIBIT #600 FIRST STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ZENA ARMSTRONG,

        20       DATED 2/2/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0003

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have a second statutory declaration

        23       from you, DFT.0013.0019.  Could we bring that up, please.

        24       That's the first page of your statutory declaration.  Could

        25       we bring up page 0037.  Do you see your signature on that

        26       document?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   I am sorry, I have given the wrong page reference.  It

        30       is 0032.  It is dated 27 February 2006.

        31       A.   Yes, that's right.

        32

        33       Q.   Are the contents of that document true and correct to

        34       the best of your knowledge and belief?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #601 SECOND STATUTORY DECLARATION OF

        38       ZENA ARMSTRONG, DATED 27/2/2006, BARCODED DFT.0013.0019

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   May I take you back, then, to exhibit 599,

        41       which is the summary of the IIC interview.  Do you have a

        42       copy of that - a hard copy - in front of you?

        43       A.   No, I don't.

        44

        45       Q.   We will obtain one.  In the meantime, could we bring

        46       up, please, DFT.0001.0345.  What we know from your first

        47       statutory declaration is that you were employed by the
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         1       Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade since 1991, and

         2       that between March of 2003 and May of 2004 you were

         3       attached to the Iraq rehabilitation unit in the Iraq task

         4       force at DFAT.  What did you do prior to about March of

         5       2003?  Did it in any way have anything to do with Iraq?

         6       A.   No, it didn't.

         7

         8       Q.   After May of 2004, did your duties have anything to do

         9       with Iraq?

        10       A.   Yes, it did.  From April through to May 2004 I was

        11       transitioning from my position as director of the Iraq

        12       rehabilitation unit to a position of director in the Iraq

        13       policy and coordination section.  That transition began in

        14       early April and was completed on 10 May.  So I continued to

        15       work on the Iraq task force but in a different position.

        16

        17       Q.   What, in general terms, was the nature of your duties

        18       at the Iraq policy coordination?

        19       A.   I became responsible for security-related issues,

        20       managing - dealing, I think, with the security of our

        21       people in Iraq, particularly those attached to the

        22       Australian post in Baghdad.  That was one of the main

        23       functions.  So I no longer had responsibility for any work

        24       relating to AWB issues.

        25

        26       Q.   So then your exposure to AWB issues falls within the

        27       period of about March 2003 to about May of 2004?

        28       A.   I would say early April 2004, rather than May.  In

        29       much of April and into May I was pretty much taken off line

        30       to produce a publication on Iraq.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you have much notice of your interview with the

        33       IIC investigators on 25 February 2005?

        34       A.   I don't recall being given much notice, but I can't

        35       recall precisely how much time I was given.

        36

        37       Q.   Were you able to put together any documents that you

        38       thought might be of interest to those who were interviewing

        39       you?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you know, even in broad terms, what it was that

        43       might be the subject of the interview?

        44       A.   No.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you aware that you were going to be interviewed

        47       by members of the IIC committee?



            .20/3/06 (49)              4920     Z J ARMSTRONG (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And were you aware that they were investigating

         4       alleged breaches of UN sanctions during the Oil-for-Food

         5       Program?

         6       A.   Yes, I believe I had been given the terms of reference

         7       of the inquiry.

         8

         9       Q.   And did you have an expectation that you would be

        10       asked some questions about AWB?

        11       A.   Yes, of course.

        12

        13       Q.   Beyond that, did you have a list of questions or a

        14       list of topics upon which the IIC committee might ask you

        15       some questions?

        16       A.   I don't recall.

        17

        18       Q.   This was an interview conducted by phone?

        19       A.   No, they were in Canberra and it was conducted - it

        20       was a face-to-face interview.

        21

        22       Q.   There are references in the interview to your being

        23       shown various documents.

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you keep any of the documents that you were shown

        27       during the interview?

        28       A.   No, I didn't.

        29

        30       Q.   Where the summary refers to your being shown

        31       documents, were they documents that you were shown by

        32       investigators of the IIC committee?

        33       A.   Yes, they were.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you have any warning that you would be asked any

        36       questions about those documents?

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   You will see in the second paragraph of the summary,

        40       at 0345, it records that you were shown two emails dated

        41       18 March 2004 from Darryl Hockey to yourself concerning a

        42       possible investigation into the Oil-for-Food Program.  Then

        43       it goes on to say:

        44

        45            The e-mail also mentioned the AWB as being

        46            a possible subject of that investigation.

        47
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         1       We will see if we can identify those emails.  We have

         2       identified three emails that relate to 18 March 2004 from

         3       Mr Hockey to yourself.  Could we bring up, please,

         4       DFT.0007.0134.  That's the first of them.  It doesn't, in

         5       terms, specifically refer to a possible investigation into

         6       the Oil-for-Food Program, but it may infer that in the

         7       second paragraph.  The next document I want to show you is

         8       DFT.0007.0136.  This contains an explicit reference to an

         9       investigation.  Have you read that?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Can you recall, was that one of the emails that was

        13       shown to you during the course of the interview?

        14       A.   I think the second one was.  I don't recall the first

        15       one, but --

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I will tender the first one for the sake of

        18       maintaining the record.

        19

        20       EXHIBIT #602 EMAIL FROM DARRYL HOCKEY TO ZENA ARMSTRONG

        21       DATED 18/3/2004, BARCODED DFT.0007.0134

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I tender the second as an email that was shown

        24       to Ms Armstrong during the course of the interview.

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #603 EMAIL FROM DARRYL HOCKEY TO ZENA ARMSTRONG

        27       DATED 18/3/2004, BARCODED DFT.0007.0136

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Could we bring up, please DFT.0007.0137.

        30       This is a third email of 18 March 2004 directed to you by

        31       Mr Hockey.  Did you see that email, or a copy of it, during

        32       the course of your interview with the IIC investigators?

        33       A.   I don't recall.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that in any event,

        36       Mr Commissioner.

        37

        38       EXHIBIT #604 EMAIL FROM DARRYL HOCKEY TO ZENA ARMSTRONG

        39       DATED 18/3/2004 BARCODED DFT.0007.0137

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The next paragraph of the summary refers

        42       to an email from yourself to Peter Tesch and Paul Stephens.

        43       Could we bring up, please, DFT.0007.0140.  Can you recall

        44       whether you saw either of the two emails on the screen on

        45       page 0140 during the course of the interview?

        46       A.   I don't recall seeing either of these during the

        47       course of the interview, no.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I tender them, Mr Commissioner.

         3

         4       THE WITNESS:   I am sorry.  My apologies.  These two I do

         5       recall, very much so,  mmm.  I am sorry, I do recall seeing

         6       these.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   During the course of the interview?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   I tender those, Mr Commissioner.

        12

        13       EXHIBIT #605 PAGE CONTAINING EMAILS BETWEEN ZENA ARMSTRONG,

        14       PETER TESCH AND PAUL STEPHENS, BARCODED DFT.0007.0140

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I take you to another copy that we

        17       have of exhibit 604.  This was Mr Hockey's email to you at

        18       9.49pm.  It is DFT.0007.0139.  This has some handwriting on

        19       it and some underlining, "Copy AWB-related material passed

        20       to IIC", and the underlining would appear to be exactly the

        21       same as the underlining on the other version of the

        22       document that I showed you?

        23       A.   Yes, that's right, mmm.

        24

        25       Q.   Can you say anything about that document?  Do you

        26       recognise the handwriting?

        27       A.   I don't recognise the handwriting.  It is possible

        28       that the underlining was mine and that it was placed on the

        29       file.

        30

        31       Q.   And that it was in fact passed to the IIC, as the

        32       handwriting would indicate?

        33       A.   I don't know.  You would need to address that

        34       question, I think, to whoever was handling the provision of

        35       documents to the IIC.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Could I add that to exhibit 604,

        38       Mr Commissioner?

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #604 ADDITION OF COPY OF EMAIL FROM DARRYL HOCKEY

        43       TO ZENA ARMSTRONG BEARING HANDWRITING AND UNDERLINING,

        44       DATED 18/3/2004, BARCODED DFT.0007.0139

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we go to the second-last

        47       paragraph of the summary.  I will ask you to read that, in
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         1       particular from the fourth line, "Mr Crews and Ms Armstrong

         2       conducted an assessment of the value of contracts.  Do you

         3       have a recollection of which contracts were assessed by

         4       yourself and Mr Crews?

         5       A.   We received attachments to emails during the

         6       reprioritisation, and one of those attachments I recall had

         7       a list of contracts which included the Australian wheat

         8       contracts, Russian contracts, Indian contracts, and I think

         9       perhaps some Pakistani contracts.  We looked at the data in

        10       that and established that the Australian contracts were not

        11       sitting right at the top of that, the list of prices, but

        12       it was a very - it was a layman's assessment.  Neither

        13       Mr Crews nor I had experience in the commodities trend.  So

        14       I had to stress it was very much an inexpert assessment of

        15       contract price.

        16

        17       Q.   Let me ask you some further questions about that.  The

        18       Australian contracts that you received, were they the two

        19       contracts that needed to be prioritised and renegotiated

        20       after the coalition had entered Iraq in March of 2003?

        21       A.   We were sent those contracts in 2003, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   So they were, in effect, live contracts?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Would that mean, then, that they were contracts 1670

        27       and 1680?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   You said you received other contracts, and you named a

        31       series of countries - Russia, India, and you thought

        32       perhaps Pakistani contracts.  Were they contracts for the

        33       provision of wheat?

        34       A.   We received the contract prices, not the contracts,

        35       but yes, they were for the provision of wheat.

        36

        37       Q.   And when you say you received the contract prices,

        38       were you told what was included in those contract prices?

        39       A.   We understood that they included the transportation

        40       fees.

        41

        42       Q.   Transportation fees for delivery of the wheat after

        43       the wheat had arrived at the Gulf port of Umm Qasr?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you told anything about the grade and quality of

        47       the wheat?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   Were you told anything about when it was that this

         4       wheat was to have been delivered?

         5       A.   These were contracts that were subject to the

         6       reprioritisation process, so our understanding was that the

         7       wheat would be delivered in the post-conflict period.

         8

         9       Q.   Were you given anything of a breakdown of those

        10       prices?

        11       A.   Not that I can recall.

        12

        13       Q.   And was it simply a matter of converting the contract

        14       prices then into a common currency and comparing the price

        15       per tonne of wheat?

        16       A.   Very much so.  It was - as I say, it was fairly

        17       inexpert.

        18

        19       Q.   So if each of those contracts had included, for

        20       example, a 10 per cent loading, would your exercise have

        21       discovered that?

        22       A.   I think what our exercise would have - was aimed to

        23       discover was trying to identify a general - an FOB price

        24       and then see what additional amounts might have been put on

        25       top of an FOB price, and then doing a bit of an assessment,

        26       I think, to see what the differences were in the contracts.

        27       But it was extremely inexpert, as I say.

        28

        29       Q.   How did you establish, if you were able to do so, an

        30       FOB price for the wheat referred to in the Australian

        31       contracts?

        32       A.   By the time we did this, which was in late 2003, AWB

        33       had already told us that the FOB price - they had told us

        34       what the FOB price was.

        35

        36       Q.   Had they given you a breakdown of the components

        37       above the FOB price?

        38       A.   Well, they told us that the additional costs related

        39       to war insurance, other insurance premiums, costs

        40       associated with discharge.  There was a range of other

        41       activities that AWB advised us were built into that overall

        42       CIF cost.

        43

        44       Q.   Was that an advising that you received in writing?

        45       A.   On several occasions I believe we had emails from AWB

        46       to say that - particularly in regard to responding to the

        47       US Wheat Associates allegations, that the cost incorporated
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         1       all of these other activities and other expenses.

         2

         3       Q.   We have not seen any email from AWB to DFAT which

         4       indicates what the FOB price was of the wheat.

         5       A.   I refer to that in my statutory declaration.  That

         6       advice was conveyed to us - conveyed to me by Chris

         7       Whitwell at one point.

         8

         9       Q.   He gave you a precise figure?

        10       A.   He gave me a precise figure in response, I recall, to

        11       the second round of Wheat Associates allegations in late

        12       2003.

        13

        14       Q.   This was before any renegotiation of contracts 1670

        15       and 1680?

        16       A.   This was after the renegotiation, as I understand it.

        17

        18       Q.   Were you ever given an FOB price before the

        19       renegotiation of contracts 1670 and 1680?

        20       A.   My notes recall that I was given a price of US$150,

        21       but I don't recall actually - I don't remember that in any

        22       great detail, I'm afraid, although it is written in my

        23       notes.

        24

        25       Q.   You said that you were told on more than one occasion

        26       the other components to make up the CIF price.  Were you

        27       ever given a breakdown of those components?

        28       A.   In cost terms or --

        29

        30       Q.   Yes.

        31       A.   No.  No.

        32

        33       Q.   Can you recall whether any of the components that you

        34       were given identified a component which was the repayment

        35       of a debt for wheat delivered in 1996?

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Or a debt relating to Tigris or to BHP?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   What we do know from other AWB documents is that when

        42       contracts 1680 and 1670 were signed and agreed the CIF

        43       price included not only an inflation figure of 10 per cent,

        44       but also a figure of something over $7 per metric tonne in

        45       relation to the payment of a 1996 debt for wheat which

        46       included an interest component.  Were you given that

        47       information?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   May we take it that your assessment of the Australian

         4       contracts and the comparison of them with the other

         5       contracts that you have referred to didn't indicate that

         6       the Australian contracts contained either a 10 per cent

         7       figure by way of inflation or an amount on account of a

         8       repayment of any debt for wheat in 1996?

         9       A.   No.  I think if we discovered that the Australian

        10       contracts were way out of the ball park, we might have been

        11       alerted, but they were very much within the range of prices

        12       as we understood them.

        13

        14       Q.   When you obtained this information from AWB, did you

        15       tell whoever it was that you obtained the information from

        16       why you needed the information?

        17       A.   We didn't go out to seek this information, as

        18       I recall.  It was included in an exchange of emails that

        19       was occurring in Baghdad, to which Michael Long was

        20       involved, and on which - in which I had been copied.  So,

        21       as I recall, it was - and I have to say that my

        22       recollection here is very imprecise, but I recall it as a

        23       document that was possibly attached to a series of emails

        24       that was being exchanged in Baghdad into which I was

        25       copied.  So we didn't solicit it; it came to us.

        26

        27       Q.   This exchange of emails in Baghdad - exchange of

        28       emails between Mr Long and other parties?

        29       A.   It was an exchange of - yes, between Mr Long and

        30       ministry of trade advisers who were working on the

        31       reprioritisation of the - well, of the wheat contracts, not

        32       just the Australian contracts, but the wheat contracts

        33       generally.

        34

        35       Q.   With the CPA?

        36       A.   Within the CPA.  Also with the WFP.

        37

        38       Q.   And these were copied to you by Mr Long or by the

        39       Ministry of Trade or WFP or CPA persons?

        40       A.   By Mr Long.

        41

        42       Q.   And you used that material for the purpose of your

        43       assessment?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you have any copies of the Australian contracts -

        47       1670 and 1680?
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         1       A.   Yes, we had both of those.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you have copies of the contracts that related to

         4       the sale of wheat by India, Russia or Pakistan?

         5       A.   No, we didn't.

         6

         7       Q.   If the Indian, Russian and Pakistani contracts had

         8       included an inflated component, and that component was also

         9       included in the Australian contracts, would your assessment

        10       have indicated the inclusion of such an inflated component?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   In the last paragraph of this first page of the

        14       summary there is recorded that you were shown an email sent

        15       to you by Mr Hockey discussing shipping costs and

        16       mentioning Alia transportation.  I take it you never

        17       retained a copy of that email?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you retain a note of the date of it?

        21       A.   I think it might have been some time in March 2004,

        22       but I can't recall with any precision, I'm afraid.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you remember anything more of the substance of it?

        25       A.   No, but I do remember saying to the inquiry that

        26       I hadn't seen this email before.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you learn how it was that the inquiry came to be

        29       in possession of that email?

        30       A.   I don't - I understood that it came to them from AWB,

        31       but I don't - we didn't discuss how they came to be in

        32       possession of it.  I don't recall discussing how they came

        33       to be in possession of it.

        34

        35       Q.   That last paragraph goes on to record that you were

        36       asked if you had any knowledge relating to Alia

        37       Transportation and its relationship with the AWB.  It

        38       further records that you understood that Alia was a freight

        39       forwarding company that was used by AWB to transport its

        40       wheat throughout Iraq, and that you understood that AWB had

        41       been using Alia for quite some time.  Can we put some time

        42       parameters on your understanding?  Over what period of time

        43       did you have an understanding that Alia was a freight

        44       forwarding company used by AWB to transport its wheat?

        45       A.   Certainly by April 2004 I was aware that they had been

        46       doing that.

        47
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         1       Q.   And were you aware that they had been doing that

         2       before the coalition forces had entered Iraq in March of

         3       2003?

         4       A.   I understood that AWB had a longstanding relationship

         5       with Alia, but I didn't have any information about the

         6       nature of that relationship prior to the post-conflict

         7       environment in which I was working --

         8

         9       Q.   What was the - sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off.

        10       Have you finished?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   I will read back your answer so that you can finish

        14       it.  It was my error:

        15

        16            I understood that AWB had a longstanding

        17            relationship with Alia, but I didn't have

        18            any information about the nature of that

        19            relationship prior to the post-conflict

        20            environment in which I was working --

        21

        22       A.   It - during the period of the time that I was working

        23       on this issue, AWB were using Alia to deliver - well, they

        24       had engaged Alia to provide transport services in the

        25       post-conflict environment.  Iraq at the time, after the

        26       conflict in early 2003, was in a state of enormous disarray

        27       and I understood that AWB engaged Alia to deliver wheat

        28       through Iraq in the post-conflict environment.  I had

        29       understood that this was a relationship that did pre-date

        30       the conflict as well.

        31

        32       Q.   This was information that you gained between March of

        33       2003 and April of 2004?

        34       A.   Yes. Mmm.

        35

        36       Q.   And your source of that information was AWB personnel?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   The summary goes on to say:

        40

        41            Ms Armstrong could not recall having seen

        42            reference to Alia Transportation in any

        43            earlier correspondence.

        44

        45       I appreciate this is not your document, but it is the best

        46       we have as a record of the interview.  What was meant by

        47       "earlier correspondence", or to what were you referring
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         1       when you made a statement of which that sentence is

         2       apparently a note?

         3       A.   In my time in the Iraq task force there had not been

         4       any correspondence pre-dating - to me from AWB pre-dating,

         5       and that one - and I again have to say that I hadn't seen -

         6       I don't recall having seen this email until the UN inquiry

         7       presented it to me, but AWB had not in any of its

         8       correspondence with me mentioned Alia.  Now, I didn't

         9       interpret the question that I was being asked by the United

        10       Nations inquiry team beyond my time in the task force.

        11

        12       Q.   So was your answer and the sense in which you intended

        13       it to be received confined to your knowledge - and that is

        14       whatever you had seen or learnt - during your period of

        15       attachment to the Iraqi task force?

        16       A.   Yes, very much so.

        17

        18       Q.   You were not intending to give any information about

        19       what you had seen or might have been aware of before you

        20       began at the Iraq task force?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Indeed, before you began at the Iraq task force, had

        24       you seen any reference to any association between AWB and

        25       Alia?

        26       A.   No, this was my first exposure to the issues, on the

        27       Iraq task force.  So I had seen nothing like that.

        28

        29       Q.   If I take you to the next page, 0346, it is recorded

        30       that you were not involved in any discussions concerning

        31       the renegotiation of the December 2002 AWB contract for

        32       500,000 metric tonnes of wheat.  Were you in fact aware

        33       that there were two December 2002 contracts?

        34       A.   Yes, I was.

        35

        36       Q.   Each for 500,000 tonnes?

        37       A.   Yes, I was.

        38

        39       Q.   When it is recorded that you were not involved in any

        40       discussions, did you intend to convey that you were not

        41       involved in the renegotiations?

        42       A.   Yes, very much so.

        43

        44       Q.   But you did have discussions with Mr Whitwell

        45       concerning --

        46       A.   The outcome.

        47
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         1       Q.   -- those negotiations or the outcome of them?

         2       A.   The outcome, although I recall one conversation with

         3       Mr Whitwell during the renegotiation where he touched very

         4       briefly on the status of the renegotiation, but it was a

         5       very brief reference.  My discussions with Mr Whitwell were

         6       very much in regard to the outcome of that renegotiation.

         7

         8       Q.   And that's a matter that you take up in one of your

         9       statutory declarations?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Which I will come back to when we reach them.  The

        13       statement in the second paragraph that you were not aware

        14       of any linkage between Alia Transportation and the

        15       government of Iraq, was that a statement as to your state

        16       of knowledge as at the date of this interview - 25 February

        17       2005?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   So for the whole of the period that you worked on the

        21       Iraq task force, and indeed right up until February of

        22       2005, you were not aware and had not been made aware of any

        23       association between Alia and the government of Iraq?

        24       A.   That's right.  I only became aware of that linkage in

        25       the context of the Volcker Report.

        26

        27       Q.   In the second-last paragraph the summary records that

        28       you recalled that AWB made quite a feature - and that is in

        29       quotes - of the fact that they were transporting grain not

        30       only to Umm Qasr but to all Iraqi silos.

        31       A.   Mmm.

        32

        33       Q.

        34            This was a feature of the AWB contracts and

        35            she understood this was something that the

        36            Iraqi Grains Board inserted in all of its

        37            contracts for wheat.  This was not

        38            particularly standard practice in

        39            commodities distribution but was something

        40            that the Iraqi Grains Board insisted on.

        41

        42       To the extent that those sentences relate to the contracts

        43       and the Iraqi Grains Board, what was the source of your

        44       information?

        45       A.   AWB.

        46

        47       Q.   And when you said that AWB made quite a feature of the
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         1       fact that they were transporting grain not only to Umm Qasr

         2       but to all Iraqi silos, who did you have in mind as having

         3       made quite a feature of that fact?

         4       A.   Mr Long, Mr Whitwell and Mr Hockey.

         5

         6       Q.   And over what period of time did one or any of them

         7       refer to when making a feature of that?  Were they speaking

         8       of the period before coalition forces entered Iraq in March

         9       of 2003, or were they speaking of the period after that

        10       date?

        11       A.   Well, before.  I understood that they believed that

        12       they had a very efficient service in regard to the delivery

        13       of wheat to all parts of Iraq.

        14

        15       Q.   Before what you call the conflict?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   That would be before March of 2003?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Were statements to that effect made by each of them or

        22       by one of them in particular or by two out of the three?

        23       A.   I would be - it would be difficult, I think, for me to

        24       identify very specific statements and attribute them to

        25       each of the individuals, but it was very much a theme that

        26       AWB in its conversations with us, in regard to the

        27       distribution of wheat - it was very much a strength that

        28       they played on generally.  So certainly each of them,

        29       I think, at some point, without actually perhaps drawing

        30       very deliberate attention to it, would certainly give us to

        31       understand that they felt they had a very efficient

        32       distribution system in place.

        33

        34       Q.   Before the invasion?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   And then in the last paragraph:

        38

        39            AWB stated that from a commercial point of

        40            view it would be much better if there were

        41            many transportation companies.  However, in

        42            Iraq where there was a high level of

        43            government control, the number of operators

        44            allowed to work there was very constrained.

        45

        46       Were those statements made in the context of the period

        47       before March of 2003?
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         1       A.   Yes.  That would be the case.

         2

         3       Q.   And the next sentence:

         4

         5            Therefore, suppliers had no choice other

         6            than going with those people allowed to

         7            work in that market.

         8

         9       A statement made to you by AWB personnel?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And relating to pre-March of 2003?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   If I go back to the second-last paragraph:

        16

        17            Ms Armstrong was not aware of any request

        18            for advice from AWB on whether they could

        19            make payments to Alia Transportation.

        20            Ms Armstrong was asked if she recalled any

        21            correspondence going to AWB or any

        22            discussions with AWB relating to the

        23            payment of transportation costs inside

        24            Iraq.

        25

        26       Did you recall any correspondence relating to any request

        27       for advice from AWB on whether they could make payments to

        28       Alia Transportation where that correspondence

        29       pre-dated March of 2003?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Had you ever seen such correspondence?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you recall any correspondence going to AWB or any

        36       discussions with AWB relating to the payment of

        37       transportation costs inside Iraq prior to March of 2003?

        38       A.   No.  This all pre-dated my arrival on the Iraq task

        39       force.  It must also be recalled that the time that I was

        40       working on the Iraq task force sanctions had already -

        41       well, were lifted.  I started in April and the sanctions

        42       were lifted in May.  So we were working in a very different

        43       context.

        44

        45       Q.   When you came to work on the Iraq task force, did you

        46       have any occasion to look through any old DFAT files

        47       relating to AWB's contracts for the sale of wheat to Iraq?
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         1       A.   No, we didn't.  They provided us with the contracts

         2       when we sought them.  Because we were working in the

         3       post-sanctions environment, our main concern was very much

         4       trying to understand what the lifting of sanctions meant

         5       for the outstanding oil-for-food contracts, and we were

         6       very busy coming to grips, I think, with a very changed

         7       environment.  So we were very much focused on trying to

         8       understand the new situation, and it wasn't relevant at

         9       that time.  What had gone before didn't appear to have

        10       terribly much relevance, given that sanctions had been

        11       lifted, the Oil-for-Food Program was being phased out, and

        12       there were a new - a very much changed administrative

        13       system prevailed.  New administrative processes were coming

        14       into place.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   We want to now move to your second statutory

        17       declaration.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   I see the time.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Would it be convenient to take that up from

        22       that point tomorrow?

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  We will adjourn until

        25       10am.

        26

        27       AT 4.18PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED

        28       TO TUESDAY, 21 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM

        29

        30

        31

        32

        33

        34

        35

        36

        37

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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